LARC/08/REP

REPORT

Brasilia, Brazil, 14 to 18 April 2008

Thirtieth
FAO Regional Conference
for Latin America
and the Caribbean



FAO Member Nations serviced by the Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean (as of 18 April 2008)

Antigua and Barbuda Dominican Republic Paraguay Argentina Ecuador Peru

Bahamas El Salvador Saint Kitts and Nevis

Barbados Grenada Saint Lucia

Belize Guatemala Saint Vincent and the

Bolivia Guyana Grenadines Brazil Haiti Suriname

Colombia Honduras Trinidad and Tobago

Costa Rica Jamaica Uruguay
Cuba Mexico Venezuela

Chile Nicaragua Dominica Panama

Date and place of FAO Regional Conferences for Latin America and the Caribbean

First Quito, Ecuador, 18-25 September 1949
Second Montevideo, Uruguay, 1-12 December 1950
Third Buenos Aires, Argentina, 1-10 September 1954

Fourth Santiago, Chile, 19-30 November 1956

Fifth San José, Costa Rica, 12-21 November 1958
Sixth Mexico City, Mexico, 9-20 August 1960

Seventh Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 17-27 November 1962 Eighth Viña del Mar, Chile, 13-29 March 1965

Ninth
Punta del Este, Uruguay, 5-16 December 1966
Tenth
Kingston, Jamaica, 2-13 December 1968
Eleventh
Caracas, Venezuela, 12-20 October 1970
Twelfth
Cali, Colombia, 21 August - 2 September 1972
Thirteenth
Panama City, Panama, 12-23 August 1974

Fourteenth Lima, Peru, 21-29 April 1976

Fifteenth Montevideo, Uruguay, 8-19 August 1978 Sixteenth Havana, Cuba, 26 August - 6 September 1980

Seventeenth Managua, Nicaragua, 20 August - 10 September 1982

Eighteenth Buenos Aires, Argentina, 6-15 August 1984 Nineteenth Bridgetown, Barbados, 5-13 August 1986

Twentieth Recife, Brazil, 2-7 October 1988 Twenty-first Santiago, Chile, 9-13 July 1990

Twenty-second Montevideo, Uruguay, 28 September - 2 October 1992 Twenty-third San Salvador, El Salvador, 29 August - 2 September 1994

Twenty-fourth Asunción, Paraguay, 2-6 July 1996
Twenty-fifth Nassau, Bahamas, 16-20 June 1998
Twenty-sixth Merida, Mexico, 10-14 April 2000
Twenty-seventh Havana, Cuba, 22-26 April 2002

Twenty-eighth Guatemala City, Guatemala, 26-30 April 2004

Twenty-ninth Caracas, Venezuela, 24-28 April 2006 Thirtieth Brasilia, Brazil, 14-18 April 2008

REPORT OF THE THIRTIETH FAO REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

(Brasilia, Brazil, 14-18 April 2008)

FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area, or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying or otherwise, without prior permission of the copyright owner. Applications for such permission with a statement of the purpose and extent of the reproduction, should be addressed to the Director, Information Division, Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Viale delle Terme di Caracalla, 00100 Rome, Italy.

©FAO 2008

CONTENTS

	Paragraphs	Pages
SUMMARY OF THE MAIN CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	1 - 60	1
INTRODUCTORY ITEMS AND SUMMARY OF DELIBERATIONS		
Inaugural session	61	9
Election of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairpersons and appointment of the Rapporteur	62	9
Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable	63	9
Report on FAO activities (2006-2007) aimed at achieving the Millennium Development Goals and the World Food Summit target	64 - 76	9
Reports of the Regional Commissions: Latin American and Caribbean Forestry Commission (LACFC) and Commission on Livestock Development for Latin America and the Caribbean (CODEGALAC)	77 - 81	11
Matters arising from the 34 th Session of the FAO Conference	82 - 87	11
Opening Ceremony	88	12
Statement of the Independent Chairman of the Council of FAO	89 - 91	12
Statement of the Director-General of FAO	92 - 94	13
Address by the President of the Federative Republic of Brazil	95 - 100	13
Food safety: Effective participation of developing countries in Codex Alimentarius meetings	101 - 108	14
Pressing global and regional issues: Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative	109 - 116	15
Round Table: Follow-up to the International Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development-ICARRD (Porto Alegre, Brazil, March 2006)"	117 - 122	16

	Paragraphs	Page
REPORT OF THE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE		
Opening of the Technical Committee meeting	123	17
Election of the Technical Committee Chairperson and Vice- Chairpersons and appointment of the Rapporteur and Drafting Committee	124	17
Adoption of the Technical Committee Agenda and Timetable	125 - 126	17
Policies to promote and/or strengthen the participation and joint action of public and private actors in rural development	127 - 139	17
Transboundary diseases	140 - 149	19
Opportunities and challenges of biofuel production for food security and the environment in Latin America and the Caribbean	150 - 154	20
Adoption of the Technical Committee report	155	20
Closure of the Technical Committee meeting	156 - 157	20
FINAL ITEMS		
Date and place of the Thirty-first FAO Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean	158	21
Other matters	159 - 166	21
Adoption of the report (including the Technical Committee report) and closure of the Regional Conference	167 - 169	22
APPENDICES A. Statement of the Director-General	he	28 33 40 68
Caribbean		69

SUMMARY OF THE MAIN CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Report on FAO activities (2006-2007) aimed at achieving the Millennium Development Goals and the World Food Summit target

For the attention of Governments

The Conference:

- 1. <u>Urged</u> the countries of the Region to increase their efforts to achieve food security. It reiterated that the main cause of food insecurity was not in the level of food production; production indices for the different agricultural commodity groups indicated accelerated progress in the last fifteen years. The problem resided in the fact that a large proportion of the resource-poor population did not have access to foods available on the market. The Conference <u>emphasized</u> the need for growth in Latin America and the Caribbean to bring about a higher level of social inclusion and to be accompanied by policies to enhance the distribution of income.
- 2. <u>Called</u> on all the countries of the Region who improve the food security of indigenous and other ethnic groups that had far more severe conditions of food insecurity than the national average.
- 3. <u>Underlined</u> the need to formulate long-term agricultural and rural development strategies, with a territorial approach and with participatory public policies.
- 4. <u>Stressed</u> the importance of implementing public policies that were specifically directed towards family farming.
- 5. <u>Drew attention</u> to the opportunity for the capitalization of agriculture that resulted from the process of rapidly increasing agricultural commodity prices in relatively stable macroeconomic frameworks.
- 6. <u>Urged</u> the countries of the Region to implement immediate assistance actions for Haiti.

For the attention of FAO

- 7. <u>Requested</u> that FAO continue to give priority to the fight against chronic undernutrition and to the eradication of child malnutrition.
- 8. Requested that FAO continue to work in support of the "Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative" and towards the achievement of the Millennium Development Goals, working complementally with the other UN agencies, in particular WFP and IFAD.
- 9. <u>Suggested</u> that FAO provide technical support to the formulation of long-term agricultural and rural development strategies, with a territorial approach and participatory policies. In addition to agricultural production variables, such activities should consider aspects of trade, distribution and access to food.
- 10. <u>Requested</u> that FAO support actions that were aimed at including small farmers in the benefits of better agricultural prices.

- 11. <u>Recommended</u> that FAO give priority support to the building of national capacity to respond to emergencies resulting from natural disasters. Such support should include an expansion of national capacity to engage in activities of prevention and early warning, mitigation, assistance to vulnerable groups and rehabilitation and reactivation of agricultural production.
- 12. <u>Urged</u> FAO to significantly broaden and intensify its support activities to Haiti, including the promotion and facilitation of South-South cooperation. The Conference <u>reiterated</u> that technical cooperation with Haiti should continue to be an FAO priority in the Region.
- 13. <u>Indicated</u> that FAO should emphasize actions directed towards broadening and deepening South-South cooperation.

Reports of the Regional Commissions: Latin American and Caribbean Forestry Commission (LACFC) and Commission on Livestock Development for Latin America and the Caribbean (CODEGLAC)

For the attention of Governments

The Conference:

14. <u>Emphasized</u> the need to boost the joint efforts of countries to prevent, control and eradicate transboundary diseases, with an emphasis on the control of foot-and-mouth disease in the Region.

For the attention of FAO

- 15. <u>Requested</u> that the LACFC pursue lines of work on payment for environmental services, sustainable forest management, including the responsible management of forests plantations, the prevention of wildfires and the management of forest statistics, including information on environmental variables.
- 16. <u>Requested</u> FAO technical support for the updating of animal health laws and regulations, the strengthening of national services and the systematic recording of environmentally sustainable livestock development experiences.
- 17. <u>Indicated</u>, in the case of both the LACFC and the CODEGALAC, the activity report should include updated information to supplement the recommendations from their last meeting, which would permit a more relevant analysis at the Regional Conference.

Matters arising from the 34th Session of the Conference of FAO

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

- 18. <u>Took note</u> of the organizational changes that had resulted from the decentralization of the Organization in the context of Reform, in particular the establishment of the Sub-Regional Office in Panama and of the three Multi-Disciplinary Teams: for South America in Chile, for Mesoamerica in Panama and for the Caribbean in Barbados; and the changes in the organization of the technical officer groups in the Regional Office.
- 19. <u>Indicated</u> that the ongoing reform process should: a) contribute to the strengthening of FAO; b) enable the Organization to fully perform its mandate; c) reinforce FAO capacity to provide rapid and appropriate responses to the needs of developing countries; d) optimize the human resources of the Organization; e) foster greater transparency and democracy in FAO decision-making; f) strengthen the functions of governance through greater participation of the governing bodies in the determination of programmes, in the ongoing supervision of work implementation and in the use of the financial resources of the Organization, and g) maintain a structure of technical support for gender equality.
- 20. <u>Stated</u> that, in the framework of FAO reform, the Regional Conferences should assume more relevant functions, as an integral part of the governing structure, in the establishment of programme priorities in the Region, and in the supervision and evaluation of those programmes.

<u>Food safety: Effective participation of developing countries in Codex Alimentarius</u> meetings

For the attention of Governments

The Conference:

21. Urged the countries to redouble their efforts to participate in all Codex activities.

For the attention of FAO

- 22. <u>Expressed</u> its deep concern over the low participation of the countries of the Region in the process of drafting Codex standards. It <u>indicated</u> that the low level of participation was mainly due to a lack of economic and human resources, which was exacerbated by the geographic dispersal and the multiplicity of meetings. It <u>recommended</u> that the organization of meetings be modified, with consideration given to their possible centralization in Rome and/or Geneva, where countries could participate through their officials attached to FAO or WHO.
- 23. <u>Urged</u> that FAO continue and broaden its support to the building of technical capacity in the countries of the Region, both to enhance their participation in the formulation of standards and to facilitate the implementation of those standards
- 24. Requested that FAO support an appropriate dissemination of Codex activities and results at all the steps.

<u>Pressing global and regional issues: Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative (HFLACI)</u>

For the attention of Governments

The Conference:

- 25. <u>Urged</u> the countries to promptly designate their national focal points to help establish a network, in the framework of the Initiative, that would help to coordinate actions and define the type of activities that needed to be implemented in each country, in accordance with its concrete needs.
- 26. <u>Recommended</u> strengthening and deepening cooperation between countries, as well as mechanisms for triangular cooperation on food security, taking into account available supply and the identification of synergies.

For the attention of FAO

- 27. <u>Examined</u> a classification of country policies, reviewing public expenditure targeting five objectives: agriculture and rural development; social protection and food; nutritional assistance and health, water and sanitation; and nutritional education. It <u>agreed</u> with the identification of the main challenges that were listed for 2008-2010, in particular the establishment of a network that would help coordinate actions and define the type of activities that needed to be implemented in each country, according to its concrete needs.
- 28. <u>Considered</u> that the Initiative should include the strengthening of cross-sectoral coordination in order to address food security and the fight against hunger and malnutrition in an integrated manner.
- 29. Requested that FAO map hunger and malnutrition in the Region. It also supported the FAO proposal to set up an Observatory of Food and Nutritional Security.
- 30. Recommended that the next meeting of the HFLACI Working Group, to be held in Buenos Aires, Argentina, in the second half of 2008, should include the following items on its agenda: a) prioritization of food security on national agendas; b) updating of the state of the Initiative in each country and of the mapping of hunger and malnutrition in the Region; c) refinement of the matrix of food and nutritional security policies and programmes; d) establishment of the Observatory of Food and Nutritional Security, its functions and objectives; e) strengthening of communication channels between all actors of the Initiative; f) mechanisms for the participation of civil society; and g) local management plans to strengthen food and nutritional security.
- 31. <u>Suggested</u> that FAO identify and mobilize resources together with other UN agencies for triangular cooperation on food security.

Round Table: Follow-up to the International Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development – ICARRD (Porto Alegre, Brazil, March 2006)

For the attention of Governments

The Conference:

- 32. Reaffirmed the view that taking into account the specific characteristics of each country for agrarian reform and rural development policies were fundamental tools for combating hunger and poverty in the Region and for implementing a more inclusive development model. Integrated agrarian reform, combining public policies of access to land, credit, agricultural insurance, technical assistance and infrastructure, was an important requisite for increasing food production and food security.
- 33. <u>Recalled</u> the importance of promoting specific policies for rural women, indigenous populations and traditional communities, in the framework of integrated agrarian reform.

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

- 34. <u>Reiterated</u> that the conditions that had given rise to the ICARRD continued to exist and that its conclusions and guidelines were as relevant as ever. It <u>requested</u> that FAO, in particular through its Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean, redouble efforts to disseminate the conclusions and to support the implementation of its recommendations.
- 35. It <u>stressed</u> that FAO should continue to promote follow-up to the ICARRD in the Region, creating regional arenas of cooperation and exchange of experiences and supporting those that already existed.
- 36. <u>Underlined</u> the fundamental role of policy dialogue between governments and civil society. It <u>recommended</u> that FAO promote mechanisms of dialogue that would lead to the consolidation arenas and the realization of appropriate channels for the participation of social movements in the design of public policies.

Policies to promote and/or strengthen the participation and joint action of public and private actors in rural development

For the attention of Governments

- 37. <u>Underscored</u> the need to introduce coordinated actions to ensure local populations had access to food, beyond any distributive effects that economic growth could generate.
- 38. <u>Stressed</u> the importance of combined public and private action, within the framework of public policies to achieve inclusive and sustainable rural development, in order to remedy the sharp contrast of persistent hunger in a major food producing region and persistent poverty in spite of positive economic growth.
- 39. <u>Stated</u> that this contrast required other forms of development indicator that were more representative of social and environmental conditions and that complemented those

in the "Green Revolution" model, which lacked the terms social equity and redistribution of wealth.

- 40. <u>Recognized</u> that a combination of economic growth with more equitable distribution of income was a necessary condition for overcoming hunger. It <u>indicated</u> that incentives for family farming were not sufficient to resolve rural poverty and needed to be supplemented with additional investment in infrastructure and agricultural services.
- 41. <u>Underscored</u> the need to introduce coordinated actions to ensure local populations had access to food, beyond any distributive effects that economic growth could generate.
- 42. <u>Stressed</u> that there was a strong cultural element in the process of improving food security. Enhancing quality of diet and increasing the proportion of protein and fresh foods required educational support from government institutions, with the involvement of private actors, civil society organizations and international agencies.
- 43. <u>Indicated</u> the need for state policy with a long term horizon and more effective actions to improve production, reduce vulnerability and eradicate rural poverty. It <u>emphasized</u> the pressing need to eliminate the chronic child malnutrition that existed in most countries of the Region and not only in the poorest.
- 44. <u>Indicated</u> the need for combined public and private actions to reduce the high costs of transaction that were making it difficult for family farming to enter markets and value chains, to broaden preferential access to financial services (credit and savings) and non-financial services (technical assistance, marketing support), to institutionally develop technological innovation, to achieve food safety and quality, to build a strategic and normative framework for national animal health systems and to elaborate institutional provisions for land-use management.
- 45. <u>Stressed</u> the need to reduce the high costs of intermediation for the insertion of family farmers into market chains, by creating strategies that reflected the requirements and capacities of small producers. It <u>suggested</u> the promotion of various measures, including trade fairs, the strengthening of "fair trade" structures and support to the formation of cooperatives and associations, to boost the participation of family farming in value chains. It also <u>underlined</u> the need to reassess the role of certain institutions that had been disbanded or relegated, such as national boards and institutes of promotion.
- 46. <u>Emphasized</u> the importance of agricultural insurance and the relevance of technical assistance plans for the production and marketing of the products of family farming.

For the attention of FAO

- 47. <u>Expressed</u> its agreement with the background document on the importance of family farming for food security, agricultural production and scope for the alleviation of rural poverty in the Region. It <u>indicated</u> the need for a closer definition of family farming, characterizing and categorizing its broad heterogeneity.
- 48. <u>Indicated</u> the importance of FAO supporting the strengthening of grassroots organizations to facilitate the integration of family farming into agricultural markets.

49. <u>Underlined</u> the need to further institutional recognition of the right to food, in an agreed legal framework, with inputs from government and civil society. In this connection, it reiterated its support for the "Hunger-Free Latin America and Caribbean Initiative".

Transboundary diseases

For the attention of Governments

The Conference:

50. <u>Emphasized</u> the need for a regional approach to the prevention, control and eradication of transboundary diseases. National efforts were important but were not sufficient. It was fundamental to establish cooperation between countries and to coordinate sanitary activities at borders, ensuring coherence and synergy in the nature, time and location of actions undertaken by the different countries.

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

- 51. <u>Underlined</u> the need for FAO documents to clearly and unequivocally indicate the diseases that were not present in the Region. Because of the export-oriented nature of livestock products of Latin America and the Caribbean, it was essential to highlight this characteristic that distinguished and favoured the Region. Special care should have been taken in this regard when drafting document LARC/08/3. Without detracting from the need to continue developing prevention efforts, the Conference <u>highlighted</u> the qualities and assurances that the existing prevention and control systems provided for boosting confidence in the public health resources of the countries of the Region.
- 52. <u>Expressed</u> its concern over excessive measures that unjustifiably restricted market access in the event of outbreaks or sanitary difficulties. It <u>stated</u> that FAO should contribute towards the promotion of the international standards of the World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE), as the unjustified application of sanitary restrictions to a wide range of products of animal or plant origin, when originating in an area with a declared outbreak of disease, had seriously affected the member countries of the Region.
- 53. <u>Expressed</u> its satisfaction with the coordination that had been achieved between FAO and other international agencies whose remit included animal health. <u>Requested</u> that such cooperation continue and be deepened.
- 54. <u>Requested</u> that FAO and other international institutions promote and provide technical support to cooperation between countries for the prevention, control and eradication of transboundary diseases, involving governments, research centres and agricultural producers, optimizing skills availability and drawing upon different experiences.

Opportunities and challenges of biofuel production for food security and the environment in Latin America and the Caribbean

For the attention of Governments

The Conference:

55. <u>Debated</u> the many implications of biofuel development for the fight against hunger and poverty, and for environmental sustainability, regional development and international

relations. It <u>stressed</u> that the design of public policy on biofuel production should give primary consideration to the right to food and to the food security of the population, especially of the most vulnerable social sectors.

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

- 56. <u>Recognized</u> the complexity of the issues and the need for further examination to maximize the possible opportunities of bioenergy production and to minimize the possible risks of adversely affecting food security and the environment.
- 57. <u>Believed</u> that FAO could make an important contribution by supporting the mapping of the bioenergy capacity of each country and the biofuel production potential of interested countries.

Other matters

For the attention of FAO

- 58. Recommended that FAO broaden and strengthen its cooperation activities directed towards building phytosanitary capacity. It specifically requested the implementation of a project, currently under review at the Regional Office, to establish cooperation activities between countries of the Region, directed towards the development of technical capacity for phytosanitary prevention and control. The programme in question could serve as a model for subsequent work.
- 59. Requested that FAO, together with the countries of the Region, conduct a study on the recent increase in the prices of agricultural inputs, including an analysis of the causes, outlook and options to reduce the impact on production costs and agricultural profitability.
- 60. <u>Welcomed</u> the offer of Venezuela to host, during the second half of 2008, a meeting of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean to define alternatives to deal with the challenges generated by higher food and agricultural input prices and to determine related South-South cooperation actions.

INTRODUCTORY ITEMS AND SUMMARY OF DELIBERATIONS

Inaugural session

61. The Conference held an inaugural session prior to the Opening Ceremony. The session was presided over by the Minister for Agriculture of the Federative Republic of Brazil, Mr Reinhold Stephanes; the Minister for Agrarian Development of the Federative Republic of Brazil, Mr Guilherme Cassel; the Director-General of FAO, Mr Jacques Diouf; the Independent Chairman of the Council of FAO, Mr Mohammed Saied Noori-Naeeni; and the FAO Regional Representative for Latin America and the Caribbean, Mr José Graziano Da Silva.

Election of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairpersons and appointment of the Rapporteur

62. The Conference unanimously elected the Conference Officers listed in Appendix D.

Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable

63. The Conference adopted in general the Agenda and Timetable. It also approved the procedural modality for Item 11, "Round Table: Follow-up to the International Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development (ICARRD)".

Report on FAO activities (2006-2007) aimed at achieving the Millennium Development Goals and the World Food Summit target

- 64. The Regional Representative informed the Conference of FAO's activities in the Region, in the framework of the recent economic evolution and the changes in agricultural and rural development and in the food security of the countries of the Region. The economic growth that had been accomplished between 2003 and 2007 represented a period of growth that had not been achieved since the 1970s. This had permitted a reduction in poverty and indigence and, therefore, in undernutrition in the countries of the Region. However, progress had differed among countries; in general, the most significant advances had been in South America, while achievements in Mesoamerica and the Caribbean had been lower. In all cases, the indigenous populations and other ethnic groups continued to present much less favourable indices.
- 65. The Conference was also informed of the priority that FAO was attaching to the fight against chronic undernutrition and the eradication of child undernutrition, factors that led to the intergenerational transfer of poverty and perpetuated conditions of indigence among the poorest social sectors.
- 66. The Conference agreed that food insecurity in the Region was not exclusively caused by a problem of food production; the production indices of agricultural commodities showed accelerated growth in the last fifteen years. The main problem was the lack of access to food by part of the poor population because of the high level of socio-economic inequality that existed in the Region.
- 67. The Conference was informed of progress towards the achievement of the Millennium Development Goals and priority actions determined by the 29th Regional Conference. In particular, the Regional Representative stressed that since October 2006 a food security officer and a technical team in the Regional Office in Santiago, Chile, had been supporting the "Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative". Other activities mentioned included: a) evaluation of priority food security programmes in Bolivia

10

(Alto de La Paz) and Colombia (Bogotá Sin Hambre); b) urban and periurban agriculture programmes in Brazil and Venezuela; c) development of semi-attendance courses on food security in various countries of the Region; d) assistance in the measurement of household food security and support to the Network of Research and Training in Food and Nutrition Security (REDSAN); e) reorganization of the multidisciplinary work groups in the RLC (transboundary diseases, bioenergy, health and food safety, food security, policies to combat hunger, environmental sustainability, urban and periurban agriculture, and nutritional education); f) extended coverage of the SPFSs in partnership with NGOs; g) promotion of South-South cooperation; h) technical cooperation for the prevention and control of transboundary diseases; i) technical assistance to improve food safety including the harmonization of standards and biosecurity; j) broader coordination with other regional agencies.

- 68. The Conference took note of the information presented concerning the progress made towards achieving the Millennium Development Goals and the World Food Summit target and the support provided to the implementation of the "Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative" and requested that FAO continue working on these priorities. It also expressed its concern over the lack of updated statistical data in the report.
- 69. The Conference concluded that the analysis presented and the experience gained by the countries in the Region indicated that growth in Latin America and the Caribbean needed a high degree of social inclusion which needed to be complemented with policies that would improve income distribution. This would require high-level decisions in each country.
- 70. The Conference signalled the need to formulate agricultural and rural development strategies that had a long-term territorial approach and to design participatory (public/private state sectors. It suggested that FAO support this activity in those countries that requested such support, which could help formulate of state policies for food security and the elimination of hunger. Such policies should consider production and include aspects of trade, distribution and access to food. In the same vein, analysis of social development and environmental sustainability variables should be included. The experiences that several countries had gained in this regard should be put to good effect.
- 71. The Conference stressed that specific public policies should be formulated for family farming, given its importance and its contribution to the countries of the Region.
- 72. The Conference considered appropriate the development and implementation of purchasing modalities that prioritize local, national and/or regional products when addressing the need of food security programmes.
- 73. The Conference considered that the higher agricultural commodity prices and the relatively more favourable macroeconomic frameworks represented an opportunity to capitalize agriculture. It requested that FAO support actions to help small farmers benefit from such conditions.
- 74. The Conference recommended that FAO give priority support to the building of national capacity to respond to emergencies resulting from natural disasters, taking into consideration national and regional experiences. Such support should include the building of national capacity to engage in prevention and early warning, mitigation, assistance to vulnerable groups and rehabilitation and reactivation of agricultural production.
- 75. The Conference urged the countries of the Region to implement immediate assistance actions for Haiti. It also urged FAO to significantly expand and intensify its

activities of support to that country, including the promotion and facilitation of South-South cooperation. The Conference reiterated that technical cooperation with Haiti should continue to be an FAO priority in the Region.

76. The Conference recognized FAO's efforts to boost South-South cooperation and indicated the need to give greater emphasis to actions that would broaden and deepen such cooperation.

Reports of the Regional Commissions: Latin American and Caribbean Forestry Commission (LACFC) and Commission on Livestock Development for Latin America and the Caribbean (CODEGALAC)

- 77. The Conference was informed of the results and conclusions of the meetings of the LACFC and the CODEGALAC. The activities of each were highlighted and the agreed recommendations explained.
- 78. The Conference expressed its appreciation of the information provided and indicated that in the case of both the LACFC and the CODEGALAC, the presentation of activities should include updated information to supplement the recommendations from their last meeting, which would permit a more relevant analysis at the Regional Conference.
- 79. The Conference stressed the need for the LACFC to pursue lines of work on payment for environmental services, sustainable forest management, including the responsible management of forest plantations, the prevention of wildfires and the management of forest statistics, including environmental variables.
- 80. The Conference was pleased to note that the 13th World Forestry Congress would be held in Buenos Aires, Argentina, from 18 to 25 October 2009 and called for extensive participation by the countries of the Region.
- 81. In relation to the CODEGALAC, the Conference stressed the need to boost joint country efforts to prevent, control and eradicate transboundary diseases, and especially to control foot-and-mouth disease in the Region. The Conference highlighted the importance of FAO technical support for updating animal health laws and regulations, strengthening national services and systematically recoding experiences of environmentally sustainable livestock development.

Matters arising from the 34th Session of the FAO Conference

- 82. The Conference was informed of the results of the 34th Session of the Conference of FAO, especially the reform orientations derived from the Report of the Independent External Evaluation of FAO and the Management Response "In-Principle", and follow-up actions undertaken through the work of the Conference Committee for IEE Follow-up, whose final report was to be submitted to the Special Session of the Conference to be held in November 2008.
- 83. The Conference was also informed of progress in the implementation of the Gender and Development Plan of Action, the Joint UN System Activities and the Report on Animal Genetic and Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture.
- 84. The Conference took note of the organizational changes that had resulted from the decentralization of the Organization in the context of the Reform, in particular the

establishment of the Sub-Regional Office in Panama and three Multi-Disciplinary Teams: for South America in Chile, for Mesoamerica in Panama and for the Caribbean in Barbados; and of the changes in the organization of the technical officer groups in the Regional Office.

- 85. The Conference expressed its thanks for the information presented on the IEE review process and reiterated the instruction of the 34th Conference that the process should be transparent, open and participatory, with an outcome that responded to the interests of the membership, especially of the developing countries, in the sense of a strengthening of the Organization.
- 86. The Conference indicated that the ongoing reform process should: a) contribute to the strengthening of FAO; b) enable the Organization to fully perform its mandate; c) reinforce FAO capacity to provide rapid and appropriate responses to the needs of developing countries; d) optimize the human resources of the Organization; e) foster greater transparency and democracy in FAO decision-making; f) strengthen the functions of governance through greater participation of the governing bodies in the determination of programmes, in the ongoing supervision of work implementation and in the use of the financial resources of the Organization and; g) maintain a structure of technical support for gender equality.
- 87. The Conference stated that, in the framework of FAO reform, the Regional Conferences should assume more relevant functions, as an integral part of the governing structure, in the establishment of programme priorities in the Region, and in the supervision and evaluation of those programmes.

Opening Ceremony

88. The Conference was inaugurated by His Excellency the President of the Federative Republic of Brazil, Mr Luiz Inácio Lula da Silva, who was accompanied by the following members of his Cabinet: Minister for Foreign Affairs, Mr Celso Amorim; Minister for Agriculture, Livestock and Food Supply, Mr Reinhold Stephanes; Minister for Agrarian Development, Mr Guilherme Cassel; Special Secretary for Aquaculture and Fisheries, Mr Altemir Gregolin; Acting Minister for Social Development and the Combat against Hunger, Mrs Arlete Sampaio. Also present were the Director-General of FAO, Mr Jacques Diouf, the Independent Chairman of the Council of FAO, Mr Mohammed Saied Noori-Naeeni, and the FAO Regional Representative for Latin America and the Caribbean, Mr José Graziano Da Silva.

Statement of the Independent Chairman of the Council of FAO

- 89. On behalf of himself and of all the member countries, the Independent Chairman of the Council of FAO thanked the President and the people of Brazil for their hospitality. In his statement, he referred to two principal themes: the escalation of agricultural commodity prices and progress in the follow-up to the Independent External Evaluation of FAO.
- 90. With regard to higher agricultural prices, he analysed the causes from both the supply and the demand side and stressed his concern over the impact on the balance of trade of the poorest net food-importing countries and on the food security of the neediest populations.
- 91. When informing the Conference of the follow-up to the Independent External Evaluation of FAO, the Independent Chairman of the Council underlined the need to seize

this unique opportunity to achieve reform with growth. He emphasized that the IEE had recommended that the Regional Conferences play a more important role in decision-making in FAO. He stated that Latin America and the Caribbean had played a fundamental role since the inception of the process.

Statement of the Director-General of FAO

- 92. The Director-General of FAO thanked the President, Government and people of Brazil for their hospitality and efficient support in the organization of the Conference. He recalled that the economy of Latin America and the Caribbean had experienced accelerated growth in recent years (2003-2007) in a context of general world economic growth. This had made it possible to reduce the population living in extreme poverty in the Region by almost one-third. The number of undernourished people had fallen by 7.3 million, a drop of 3 percent. Nevertheless, the Region was still a long way from achieving the World Food Summit target of halving the number of hungry by 2015. There were still 52.1 million hungry people, representing 10 percent of the regional population. The indigenous populations, whose income was 45 to 60 percent below the regional average, continued to be those most seriously affected.
- 93. The Director-General referred to the main topics of the Conference, identifying the challenge presented by soaring food prices and their impact on the import bill of low-income food-deficit countries, and the need to implement immediate measures to boost local food production.
- 94. The Director-General emphasized the importance of the Summit on World Food Security that was to be held in Rome from 3 to 5 June 2008, with the participation of the Heads of State and Government of member countries. He stressed that the Summit was particularly timely given the demonstrations against higher food prices that were spreading across the continents. He added that it would be a unique opportunity to adopt the policies, strategies and programmes that were needed to face the challenges of agricultural development and food security in the world, beyond the recent increase in agricultural prices.

Address by the President of the Federative Republic of Brazil

- 95. His Excellency Luiz Inácio Lula da Silva, President of the Federative Republic of Brazil, greeted the Director-General of FAO and welcomed all the participants to the Conference. In his statement, he indicated that the fight against hunger and poverty had returned under the spotlight because of escalating food prices. He warned against simplification or reductionism when analyzing this complex process. He explained that the phenomenon had more than one cause and was due to a combination of factors that included the higher price of oil and the consequent increase in cost of energy, transport, fertilizer and other agricultural inputs; reduced harvests in certain major grain exporting countries; and higher consumption in countries with large poor populations.
- 96. The President underlined his commitment to the realization of the Right to Food, both nationally, through public policies to promote food and nutritional security, and internationally, through cooperation. He reiterated his support to the Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative and stressed the need for global policies that were equally committed to the elimination of hunger and poverty.
- 97. He stated that it was essential to complement emergency measures with actions to reduce the vulnerability of countries. Such actions included building national capacity,

reducing socio-economic inequality and expanding the volume of international resources for the financing of development. They also included the opening up of new markets and opportunities, which would require the elimination of distortions in international agricultural markets and a satisfactory conclusion to the Doha Round of the WTO.

- 98. The President reasserted the potential of biofuels as an instrument of economic and social change. He stressed that they could serve as a fundamental tool to generate income and overcome food and energy insecurity, so long as they were developed with caution and in accordance with the reality of each country. He invited everyone to attend the International Conference that would be held in November 2008 in São Paulo, Brazil, for measured discussion of the challenges and opportunities of biofuels.
- 99. The President underlined the need for developing countries not to succumb to the logic and dynamic of the countries of the North. He recalled the principle of shared but distinct responsibilities and the need to achieve an international order that was more just and equitable, and free of hunger and poverty.
- 100. President Lula concluded by reiterating his resolute support to FAO's activities to achieve food security and undertook to attend the forthcoming Summit on World Food Security that was to be held in Rome in June of that year.

Food safety: Effective participation of developing countries in Codex Alimentarius meetings

- 101. The Conference was informed of Codex Alimentarius activities and in particular of the participation of the countries of the Region in those activities.
- 102. The Conference indicated the importance of the Codex in generating standards for the protection of consumer health in relation to food safety. It stressed the strategic prominence that the Codex had gained since the establishment of the World Trade Organization (WTO), given that the Codex standards were the international reference for WTO agreements on safety and fair practices in food trade.
- 103. The Conference expressed its deep concern over the low participation of the countries of the Region in the drafting of Codex standards, a situation that is shared with the other developing countries. It stated that the low level of participation was mainly due to a lack of economic and human resources, and was exacerbated by the geographic dispersal and the multiplicity of meetings at all levels (committees, working groups, intergovernmental task forces).
- 104. The Conference recognized the importance of the FAO/WHO Trust Fund to facilitate the participation of developing countries in meetings, and the efforts that donors had made in recent years. However, the Conference expressed its preoccupation over the inequality in the distribution of funds that resulted from the criteria adopted for the classification of countries. The Conference concluded that support from the Trust Fund was inadequate.
- 105. The Conference noted that Codex meetings were a venue for intergovernmental international negotiation, in which decisions were adopted by consensus or vote, which meant that the greater participation of certain members at the expense of others, or of one region at the expense of another, could undermine the healthy equilibrium of decision making.

- 106. The Conference recommended modifying the organization of meetings and that consideration be given to their possible centralization in Rome and/or Geneva, where countries could participate through their officials attached to FAO or WHO. It also recommended that the parameters and modes of allocation of Trust Fund resources be changed so that there was more equitable treatment for all the developing countries.
- 107. The Conference urged FAO to continue and to broaden its support to technical capacity building in the countries of the Region, both to enhance their participation in the formulation of standards and to facilitate implementation of those standards.
- 108. In spite of the above difficulties, the Conference urged countries to redouble their efforts to participate in all Codex activities and asked the Codex Secretariat to ensure greater dissemination of activities and results at all steps of its process.

Pressing global and regional issues: Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative

- 109. The Conference was informed of activities directed towards developing the Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative, with an analysis of progress in five policy areas: identification and appraisal; awareness and dissemination; training, measurement and assessment; intervention models; and proposals 2008-2010. It also examined a classification of country policies, reviewing public expenditure for five objectives: agriculture and rural development; social protection and food; nutritional assistance and health; water and sanitation; and nutritional education.
- 110. The Conference was informed that in paragraphs 14 and 37 of document LARC/08/8, there had been an involuntary omission of the fact that Argentina had had a law on food security since December 2002.
- 111. The Conference agreed with the identification of the main challenges presented for 2008-2010, in particular the establishment of a network of national focal points to help coordinate actions and define the activities that needed to be implemented in each country under the Initiative, in accordance with concrete national needs. The Conference urged the member countries to designate their focal points as soon as possible.
- 112. The Conference considered that the Initiative should include the strengthening of cross-sectoral coordination in order to address food security and the fight against hunger and malnutrition in an integrated manner.
- 113. The Conference asked FAO to map hunger and malnutrition in the Region. It also supported the FAO proposal to set up an Observatory of Food and Nutritional Security.
- 114. The Conference recommended that the next meeting of the HFLACI Working Group, to be held in Buenos Aires, Argentina, in the second half of 2008, should include the following items on its agenda: a) prioritization of food security on national agendas; b) updating of the state of the Initiative in each country and of the mapping of hunger and malnutrition in the Region; c) refinement of the matrix of food and nutritional security policies and programmes; d) establishment of the Observatory of Food and Nutritional Security, its functions and objectives; e) strengthening of communication channels between all actors of the Initiative; f) mechanisms for the participation of civil society; and g) local management plans to strengthen food and nutritional security.

- 115. The Conference also recommended strengthening and deepening cooperation between countries, and mechanisms for triangular cooperation in food security, taking into account available supply and the identification of synergies. To support such actions, it suggested that FAO identify resources and mobilize them together with other UN agencies.
- 116. The Conference stressed that support to Haiti should be a priority objective of cooperation pursued under the Initiative.

Round Table: Follow-up to the International Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development – ICARRD (Porto Alegre, Brazil, March 2006)

- 117. The Conference was informed of activities conducted in continuity of the progress made at the International Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development (ICARRD).
- 118. The Conference reiterated that the conditions that had given rise to the ICARRD continued to exist and that its conclusions and guidelines were as relevant as ever. It requested that FAO, in particular through its Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean, redouble efforts to disseminate the conclusions and to support the implementation of its recommendations.
- 119. The Conference reaffirmed the view that agrarian reform and rural development policies, taking into account the specific characteristics of each country, were fundamental tools for combating hunger and poverty in the Region and for implementing a more inclusive development model. Integrated agrarian reform, combining public policies of access to land, credit, agricultural insurance, technical assistance and infrastructure, was an important requisite for increasing food production and food security.
- 120. The Conference confirmed that the concept of agrarian reform meant discouraging the concentration of production resources and seeking a sustainable territorial reordering that would benefit both the rural and the urban populations. It also recalled, within the framework of integrated agrarian reform, the importance of promoting specific policies for rural women, indigenous populations and traditional communities.
- 121. The Conference noted the effort that many countries of the Region had made to promote policies of agrarian reform and access to land through dialogue and cooperation. In this connection, it stressed that FAO should continue to promote follow-up to the ICARRD in the Region, creating regional arenas of cooperation and exchange of experiences and supporting those that already existed.
- 122. The Conference also underlined the fundamental role of policy dialogue between governments and civil society. It recommended that FAO promote mechanisms of dialogue that would lead to the consolidation of arenas and the realization of appropriate channels for the participation of social movements in the design of public policies.

REPORT OF THE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE

Opening of the Technical Committee meeting

123. The Assistant Director-General and Regional Representative of FAO opened the Technical Committee meeting. He welcomed the delegates and observers and thanked the Government and people of the Federative Republic of Brazil for hosting the event.

Election of the Technical Committee Chairperson and Vice-Chairpersons and appointment of the Rapporteur and Drafting Committee

124. The Committee unanimously elected the Technical Committee Officers listed in Appendix E.

Adoption of the Technical Committee Agenda and Timetable

- 125. The Committee adopted the Agenda and Timetable as in documents LARC/08/1-Rev.1 and LARC/08/INF2 (see Agenda in Appendix D).
- 126. At the request of the Delegations, the Committee proposed including discussion of the topic "Higher commodity prices and their impact on food security" in the proceedings of Thursday 17. It also stated that this topic should crosscut all Technical Committee discussions.

Policies to promote and/or strengthen the participation and joint action of public and private actors in rural development

- 127. The Committee stressed the importance of combined public and private action, within the framework of public policies to achieve inclusive and sustainable rural development, in order to remedy the sharp contrast of persistent hunger in a major food producing region and persistent poverty in spite of positive economic growth.
- 128. The Committee stated that this contrast required other forms of development indicator that were more representative of social and environmental conditions and that complemented those in the "Green Revolution" model, which lacked the terms social equity and redistribution of wealth.
- 129. The Committee recognized that the combination of economic growth with a more equitable distribution of income was a necessary condition for overcoming hunger. It indicated that incentives for family farming were not sufficient to resolve rural poverty and needed to be supplemented with additional investment in infrastructure and agricultural services.
- 130. The Committee underscored the need to introduce coordinated actions to ensure local populations had access to food, beyond any distributive effects that economic growth might generate.
- 131. The Committee stressed that there was a strong cultural element in the process of improving food security. Enhancing quality of diet and increasing the proportion of protein and fresh foods required educational support from government institutions, with the involvement of private actors, civil society organizations and international agencies.

- 132. The Committee stressed the need for state policy with a long-term horizon and more effective actions to improve production, reduce vulnerability and eradicate rural poverty. It also emphasized the pressing need to eliminate the chronic child malnutrition that existed in most countries of the Region and not only in the poorest.
- 133. The Committee indicated the need for combined public and private actions to reduce the high costs of transaction that were making it difficult for family farming to enter markets and value chains, to broaden preferential access to financial services (credit and savings) and non-financial services (technical assistance, marketing support), to institutionally develop technological innovation, to achieve food safety and quality, to build a strategic and normative framework for national animal health systems, and to elaborate institutional provisions for land-use management.
- 134. The Committee concurred with the background document on the importance of family farming to food security, agricultural production and scope for the alleviation of rural poverty in the Region. It indicated the need for a closer definition of family farming, characterizing and categorizing its broad heterogeneity.
- 135. The Committee agreed with the analysis in the document of the new challenges that agribusiness and supermarket dominance of the value chain placed on family farming. In addition, the asymmetries that existed between market players and greater use of the consignment sales modality had made it more difficult for family farmers to enter markets and had led to the loss of family production units. While the expansion of agribusiness had generated some employment, the new jobs were more precarious and less stable.
- 136. The Committee stressed the need to reduce the high costs of intermediation for the insertion of family farmers into market chains, by creating strategies that reflected the requirements and capacities of small producers. It suggested the promotion of various measures, including trade fairs, the strengthening of "fair trade" structures and support to the formation of cooperatives and associations, to boost the participation of family farming in value chains. It also underlined the need to reassess the role of certain institutions that had been disbanded or relegated, such as national boards and institutes of promotion, and to look into the possibility of these supporting the development of family farming in the new agricultural market conditions. It was important for FAO to support the strengthening of grassroots organizations to facilitate the integration of family farming into agricultural markets.
- 137. The Committee underlined the importance of agricultural insurance and the relevance of technical assistance plans for the production and marketing of the products of family farming.
- 138. The Committee stressed the importance of regional cooperation and strategic partnerships between the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean for rural development, the enhancement of agriculture, the training of farmers and trade in agricultural products along the lines of complementarity.
- 139. The Committee underlined the need to further institutional recognition of the right to food, in an agreed legal framework, with inputs from government and civil society. In this connection, it reiterated its support for the "Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative".

Transboundary diseases

- 140. The Committee was informed of FAO's activities in follow-up to the recommendations on transboundary diseases from the 29th Regional Conference.
- 141. The Committee underlined the need for FAO documents to clearly and unequivocally indicate the diseases that were not present in the Region. Because of the export-oriented nature of livestock products of Latin America and the Caribbean, it was essential to highlight this characteristic that distinguished and favoured the Region. Special care should have been taken in this regard when drafting document LARC/08/3. Also, without detracting from the need to continue developing prevention efforts, the Committee underlined the capabilities and assurances that the existing prevention and control systems provided in order to bolster confidence in the public health resources of the countries of the Region.
- 142. The Committee expressed its concern over excessive measures that unjustifiably restricted market access in the event of outbreaks or sanitary difficulties. In this connection, the Committee stated that FAO should contribute towards the promotion of OIE international standards, as the unjustified application of sanitary restrictions to a wide range of products of animal or plant origin, when originating in an area with a declared outbreak of disease, had seriously affected the member countries of the Region.
- 143. The Committee requested that its report include the information of OIE representative on the forthcoming Regional Conference of that organization which would be held in Havana, Cuba, in November 2008, to examine linkages between sanitary problems and corresponding trade restrictions.
- 144. The Committee expressed its satisfaction with the coordination that had been achieved between FAO and other international agencies whose remit included animal health. It requested that such cooperation continue and be deepened.
- 145. The Committee emphasized the need for a regional approach to the prevention, control and eradication of transboundary diseases. National efforts were important but were not sufficient. It stated that it was fundamental to establish cooperation between countries and to coordinate sanitary activities at borders, ensuring coherence and synergy in the nature, time and location of actions undertaken by the different countries.
- 146. The Committee underscored the need for cooperation between countries to improve actions of prevention, control and eradication of transboundary diseases. It requested that FAO and other international institutions promote and provide technical support to such cooperation between countries, involving governments, research centres and agricultural producers, optimizing skills availability and drawing upon different experiences.
- 147. The Committee was informed of the outcome of four subregional projects to support the prevention of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI), covering 33 countries of the Region, which included training activities for the early detection of HPAI; the availability to the 33 countries of a geo-referenced epidemiological system; training in basic laboratory diagnosis; the establishment of four regional laboratories for additional technical assistance; the existence of national contingency plans in each country; participation in first-hand simulations and availability of a remote course on such simulations; familiarity in each country with at least two systems of compensation to offset production losses; availability of a continental strategy and platform of interactive

communication of risk and information; creation of scientific networks of experts; and availability of investment projects.

- 148. The Committee was informed of FAO's technical support activities for the control and progressive eradication of foot-and-mouth disease. FAO had put in place a technical assistance project to develop national projects of investment by banking institutions directed towards the eradication of foot-and-mouth disease.
- 149. The Committee was informed of FAO's technical support activities for the control of other transboundary diseases that affected the countries of the Region. These included the "Continental Plan for the Eradication of Classical Swine Fever in the Americas", supported by 19 countries of the Region; the strengthening of prevention systems for Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy; and control of the New World Screwworm.

Opportunities and challenges of biofuel production for food security and the environment in Latin America and the Caribbean

- 150. The Committee examined the FAO report on bioenergy and the exchange of experiences and information, identified as a priority line of action by the 29th Regional Conference. In particular, it considered the possible consequences of developing agriculture for liquid biofuel production on food security, the environment and the smallholder economy.
- 151. The Committee debated the many implications of biofuel development on hunger and poverty, and on environmental sustainability, regional development and international relations. It stressed that the design of public policy on biofuel production should give primary consideration to the right to food and to the food security of the population, especially that of the most vulnerable social sectors.
- 152. The Committee recognized the complexity of the issues and the need for further examination to maximize the possible opportunities of bioenergy production and to minimize the possible risks of adversely affecting food security and the environment.
- 153. The Committee believed that FAO could make an important contribution by supporting the mapping of the bioenergy capacity of each country and the biofuel production potential of interested countries.
- 154. The Committee considered it premature to discuss the drafting of a Voluntary Code of Conduct for the production and use of biofuels.

Adoption of the Technical Committee report

155. The Committee unanimously adopted the present report.

Closure of the Technical Committee meeting

- 156. The Committee reiterated its thanks to the Government and people of the Federative Republic of Brazil for their hospitality.
- 157. The Chairperson of the Technical Committee thanked the delegates for their participation and brought the Technical Committee meeting to a close.

FINAL ITEMS

Date and place of the Thirty-first FAO Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean

158. The Conference noted with satisfaction the offer of the Delegation of Panama to host the 31st FAO Regional Conference, to be held in 2010. The offer was unanimously endorsed by the delegations present. It also requested that the Director-General take this recommendation into account when deciding the place and date of the next Regional Conference, after consultation with the Government of Panama.

Other matters

- 159. The Conference recommended that FAO broaden and strengthen its cooperation activities directed towards building phytosanitary capacity. It specifically requested the implementation of a project, currently under review at the Regional Office, to establish cooperation activities between countries of the Region, directed towards the development of technical capacity for phytosanitary prevention and control. This programme could serve as a model for subsequent work.
- 160. The Conference requested that FAO, together with the countries of the Region, conduct a study on the recent increase in the prices of agricultural inputs, including an analysis of the causes, outlook and options to reduce the impact on production costs and agricultural profitability.
- 161. The Conference welcomed the offer of Venezuela to host, during the second half of 2008, a meeting of the Latin American and Caribbean countries to define alternatives to deal with the challenges generated by higher food and agricultural input prices and to determine related South-South cooperation actions.
- 162. The Conference recommended that the next Regional Conference include the topic of agroecology and organic production systems. It also requested that FAO help to identify resources for the establishment of a network of institutions working in the field of agroecology in the countries of the Region. Such a structure should include an ongoing programme of meetings and support for the development of networks of South-South cooperation in agroecology.
- 163. The Conference reiterated the need to strengthen South-South complementary trade relations.
- 164. The Conference pointed out that the Spanish title for FAO placed the two terms "agriculture" and "food" in reverse order to the title in the other official languages.
- 165. The Conference listened with appreciation to the presentations made by the Director-General of the Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA), by the Deputy Regional Director of the World Food Programme (WFP), by the Regional Representative of the World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE), and by the Secretary of the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (ITPGRFA). The statements of the representatives can be found on the Internet page of the Regional Office.
- 166. The Conference took note of the statements submitted by the "Special Conference for Food Sovereignty, Rights and Life" and by the "National Forum for Agrarian Reform and Rural Justice of Brazil. The statements of both organizations can be found on the

Internet page of the Regional Office.

Adoption of the report (including the Technical Committee report) and closure of the Regional Conference

- 167. The Conference thanked the Government and people of the Federative Republic of Brazil for their hospitality and for the excellent facilities made available for its proceedings.
- 168. The FAO Regional Representative for Latin America and the Caribbean thanked the Government and people of the Federative Republic of Brazil for the efficient organization of the Conference and the delegations for their effective work. He reiterated FAO's commitment to follow-up the recommendations of the 30th Regional Conference.
- 169. The Minister for Agricultural Development of the Federative Republic of Brazil congratulated the Delegations on the outcome of the Conference, thanked all the participants for their work and brought the 30th FAO Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean to a close.

APPENDIX A

STATEMENT OF THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL

Mr President of the Republic, Mr Chairman of the Council, Distinguished Ministers, Honourable Delegates, Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen.

Introduction

It is an honour and a great pleasure for me to be with you today for the Thirtieth FAO Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean.

On behalf of the Organization and on behalf of you all, I should like to express to His Excellency President Luiz Inácio Lula da Silva, to his Government and to the Brazilian people our profound gratitude for their hospitality and their warm welcome.

State of food insecurity in the world and in Latin America and the Caribbean

Since 2003, the global economy has been growing at an average annual rate of 3.5%. This progress has been higher in Latin America and the Caribbean where economic growth averaged almost 5% annually.

The region has made good use of this favourable situation. Between 1990 and 2002, the region's population in extreme poverty reached 97 million. In 2007, this figure fell by almost one-third to 69 million.

At the global level, despite the commitments of the World Food Summit (WFS) of 1996 and of the Millennium Summit of 2000, analysis of the latest figures on food insecurity reveals that the downward trend in the number of hungry has ceased: there were 862 million undernourished people in 2002-2004, compared to 854 million in 2001-2003.

In the region, however, the number of undernourished people fell by 7.3 million between 1990-92 and 2002-04, a reduction of 3%. Latin America and the Caribbean have therefore made encouraging progress towards the achievement of the first Millennium Development Goal. But the region is still a long way from the World Food Summit goal of halving the number of hungry by 2015.

In 2002-04, 52.1 million people - 10% of the region's population - were still victims of hunger. The hardest hit remain the indigenous populations whose incomes are 45 to 60% below the regional average.

The *Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative* has set itself the ambitious target of eradicating hunger altogether: a challenge that is within our reach.

Latin America and the Caribbean have a 31% surplus in food resources. The region's problem of hunger is therefore not one of production but, rather, one of access to food.

The increase in exports should generate higher earnings and hence more income available for distribution.

Mr President of the Republic, Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

Global and regional problems and challenges

The current increase in food prices is a major challenge, as the food security of millions of people throughout the world is today under threat. Between January 2007 and January 2008, the FAO Food Price Index rose 47%. This was driven mainly by cereal products (62%), vegetable oils (85%) and dairy products (69%). In 2008, despite an anticipated increase in world cereal production of 2.6%, the prices of most cereals are expected to remain high and some could increase still further. Cereal reserves will continue to decline to 405 million tonnes by the end of the 2008 crop year, their lowest level since 1982.

As a result, the food import bill of the 82 low-income food-deficit countries, four of which are in your region, namely Ecuador, Haiti, Honduras and Nicaragua, will increase by 35%. It is therefore essential to protect the vulnerable populations of the region. That will require immediate measures to rapidly increase local food production and to avert the effects of further price escalation.

That is why, last December, I launched an initiative to support the most affected countries and to protect the neediest populations against soaring food prices, by making it easier for poor farmers in low-income food-deficit countries to access inputs in order to boost local production. We encourage governments, international institutions and bilateral development agencies to contribute to this initiative, for while FAO has already allocated 17 million dollars of its internal resources to this programme, we need 1.7 billion dollars if we are to achieve its intended global impact.

Biofuels

The current boom in biofuels is widely debated in the world. FAO recognizes that these new products could be developed on the basis of concurrent market, energy and agriculture considerations. At this stage, we can still organize this sector so as to benefit the poorest by enhancing incomes and facilitating local access to energy.

This is a very complex issue. The positive or negative nature of the impact of bioenergy development on food security will depend on the adopted national and international policies on domestic production and distribution, but also on factors affecting international trade, notably subsidies and import duty.

Climate change

Urgent action is needed on different fronts to address the problems associated with climate change. The hurricanes and tropical storms of Central America and the Caribbean, the recent floods in Bolivia provoked by "La Niña" and the torrential rains that hit Ecuador are all recent examples of its devastating impact.

I should like to express my deepest solidarity with the countries affected by these natural disasters and to assure them of FAO's commitment by their side. In addition to emergency aid, the Organization will continue to help rebuild agricultural production capacity and to reduce the vulnerability of the populations concerned.

Agricultural development in Latin America and the Caribbean in the period 2006-2007

According to data for 2006, agriculture accounts for 6.4% of the region's gross domestic product and has an annual growth of 4.6%. For its part, the broader agricultural sector that includes upstream and downstream linkages accounts for 30% of the region's gross domestic product and plays an influential role on world agricultural markets.

Agricultural production can advance further. At the end of the 1990s, there were 162 million hectares of arable land in the region, but this area could be extended to 223 million hectares in 2030, without compromising forestland.

Crops

In 2007, Latin America and the Caribbean produced 170 million tonnes of cereals, making the region the most important in terms of production gains.

We need to continue investing in rural infrastructure and in technology if we wish to improve production. It is important to focus research on the development of varieties that are resistant to climate change in order to be able to feed a world population that will reach 9 billion in 2050.

Livestock

The region is the world's leading exporter of beef and poultry and the third exporter of pigmeat. The region needs to redouble its efforts to prevent and control transboundary diseases, if it is to continue playing a lead role on the global livestock market. Their eradication needs to be a regional priority. At the moment, the two main threats to the region's animal production are foot-and-mouth disease and avian influenza.

Currently, the countries of the region are still free of the H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza, but the virus could enter the region any time through international trade or the movement of migratory birds. Hence the importance of strengthening the measures of prevention and rapid response.

Forestry

Forest production in Latin America and the Caribbean continued to grow in 2006-2007 due to an increase in domestic demand and in exports to Asia and North America. There is also the effect of additional supply from highly dynamic forest plantations in the countries of the South.

The forestry sector accounts for more than 25 billion US dollars of regional exports. It provides direct employment to over 2 million people and indirect employment to a further 10 million.

But Latin America and the Caribbean are experiencing serious problems of degradation and deforestation that need to be addressed.

Fisheries and aquaculture

The fisheries and aquaculture sector is very important for the region. In 2005, fishery products – comprising 90% from the sea – accounted for 22% of the world total.

Aquaculture is very dynamic in the region and has doubled its share in production to 7% since 1996.

The problems for fisheries are related to the overexploitation of fishery resources, and for aquaculture to the impact on the environment. This situation provides a justification for strengthening the regulatory and institutional framework and for resorting to strategic planning combined with further investment in the aquaculture sector.

Mr President of the Republic, Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

Constraints

The agricultural sector can develop if certain constraints are removed. Three main limitations are holding the region back: lack of long-term strategy, insufficient public investment and management of agricultural expenditures that could be largely improved.

The following are therefore needed:

- An effort of coordination to better integrate the public and private sectors, including small producers.
- Immediate assistance to vulnerable households, which should go hand in hand with investments to enable them to meet their own needs.
- And last, increased spending in both quantity and quality, with increased attention to the monitoring and economic and social evaluations of programmes.

Items on the agenda of the Regional Conference

All the challenges that I just mentioned have been included in the agenda of this Thirtieth Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean.

Another important item on the agenda is the round table on the follow-up given to the International Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development.

Conclusions

Mr President of the Republic, Excellencies Ladies and Gentlemen,

The development of agriculture is vital to overcome the major global challenges, especially food insecurity and extreme poverty.

In 2008, for the first time in a quarter of a century, the World Bank dedicated its *World Development Report* to the topic of agriculture. FAO is pleased to note that its untiring efforts to explain and highlight the importance of agriculture are beginning to bear fruit.

From 3 to 5 June 2008 in Rome, Heads of State and Government of Member Nations will meet at the Summit on World Food Security, at a time when food riots are spreading across continents. It will be a unique opportunity to adopt the required policies, strategies and programmes to address the major challenges which, in addition to rising prices, are affecting agricultural production, especially in the poor countries. I should like to stress, therefore, the need for your countries to be represented by their Heads of State and

Government in this Summit, in view of the importance of these issues to your region and to the world, and given the present social and political unrest caused by the soaring food prices and inflation.

I should like to express my gratitude to President Lula who, back in June 2007, was the first Head of State to encourage this initiative and who has given exemplary leadership in the fight against hunger with the Fome Zero, PRUNAF, PRODUZIR, GESTAR, Bolsa Familia and Alimentación Escolar programmes.

I thank you for your kind attention and wish you every success in your work.

STATEMENT OF THE INDEPENDENT CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL OF FAO

Mr President, Mr Director General of FAO, Honourable Ministers, Distinguished Ambassadors, Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

It is my pleasure and indeed an honour to express on my behalf and on behalf of all Members States of FAO, our most sincere thanks and gratitude to you Mr President and through you to your Government and to the Great People of Brazil for the outstanding hospitality provided to all participants in the 30th FAO Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean.

Distinguished Members of the Conference, it is a privilege for me to report to you, as your elected representative, on major issues with the greatest impact on the state of the world's food and agriculture and on the present and future role and effectiveness of our organization.

With the limited time available I touch upon only two major subjects: one is "the growing demand for agricultural products and the rising prices of agricultural commodities" and the other is "the progress on the Independent External Evaluation of FAO".

Let me start with the first issue. The recent rapid increases in the international prices of many basic food commodities have caused lots of uncertainties and ambiguities among the decision-makers and many questions from policy makers, the media, the public, the farmers and the consumers. Above all, those who have the most reason to be concerned are vulnerable people who have to make a very difficult adjustment to the consequences of their decreased purchasing power with its negative effects on their household food security, health and welfare. Needless to emphasize this situation has created great responsibilities for all international and national decision-makers, extending far beyond food prices. Some questions which need answers are:

- Why are food prices rising?
- What is the effect of the demand for biofuel?
- Is the effect of climate change significant?
- Will the price rise continue into the long-term future?
- Who benefits and who loses?

Fortunately, FAO has done a great deal to put these questions in the context of national and international food security and vulnerability framework and has, to some extent, shown both the challenges and the opportunities which have or may emerge. Some of these questions have been dealt with in the "senior officers' meeting" of this Conference and some will be discussed in the forthcoming discussions later today and tomorrow. I will only briefly mention a few points in this respect:

Agricultural commodity prices rose sharply in 2006 and even more sharply in 2007. Comparing December 2006 to December 2007, the increase in the value of the FAO Food Price Index was 37 percent. This price boom has also been accompanied by high

price volatility, especially in the cereals and oilseeds sectors, highlighting the prevalence of greater uncertainty in the market. The continuation of these trends into 2008 has caused serious difficulties and concerns in many countries, and fortunately has received the attention of national and international media. Studying market trends suggests that the long-term decline in real prices of agricultural commodities has come to a halt, signalling a significant change in these markets. It must be stressed that there is no single factor, as being the main responsible element, nor are there any quantitative assessments of the contributions of the major factors over the past two seasons.

On the supply side, weather-related production shortfalls are a considerable factor. Although global cereal output in 2005 and 2006 declined by only one and two percent respectively, more importantly, from the perspective of international markets the output in eight major exporting countries, which constitutes nearly half of the global production, dropped by four and seven percent in those years. Another major factor on the supply side is increasing fuel costs which have raised the costs of both production and transportation. In this regard, we have to be mindful of the fact that crude petroleum prices in real terms (inflation adjusted) are still slightly below the level in 1973.

On the demand side, the changing structure of demand, as a result of economic development and income growth in emerging economies, especially China and India, has been referred to as a major factor contributing to high agricultural commodity prices, but it is interesting to know that, despite the rather rapid increase of demand in these countries, the imports of cereals have been trending down, on average four percent per year since 1980, that is from almost fifteen million tonnes to about six million tonnes and, therefore, have not been the cause of the sudden spike that began in 2005.

The emerging biofuels market is a new and significant source of demand for some agricultural commodities such as sugar, maize, cassava, oilseeds and palm oil. This needs particular and comprehensive consideration both as an opportunity especially in the long-run and as a problem in the short-run.

Regarding operations of the financial markets, agricultural-based derivatives markets offer an expanding range of financial instruments to increase portfolio diversification and reduce risk exposures. The abundance of liquidity in certain parts of the world, matched with low interest rates and high petroleum prices, make such derivatives markets a magnet for speculators for spreading their risk and pursuing more lucrative returns. But it seems more likely that speculators contribute more to raising spot price volatility rather than affecting the price level.

What are the likely impacts? Substantial increases is fuel and food prices will have a negative impact on foreign exchange earnings, incomes and the welfare of many vulnerable countries. Net importers of both fuel and food will be hit particularly hard. Substantial increases in the global cost of imported foodstuffs have already occurred, estimated at US\$ 745 billion in 2007, twenty-one percent higher than 2006 and the highest on record. The sustained rise in imported food expenditures for vulnerable countries is alarming. Today, their annual food imports could cost well over twice what they did in 2000.

The cereal import bill of the world's poorest countries is forecast to rise by 56% in 2008, after a significant increase of 37% in 2007.

International cereal prices have continued to rise sharply over the past 2 months reflecting steady demand and depleted world reserves. Prices of the rice increased the most following the imposition of the new export restrictions by major exporting countries.

By the end of the March prices of wheat and rice were about double their levels of a year earlier while those of maize were more than one third higher.

FACING THE CHALLENGE

The mixed effects of soaring food prices on household welfare and food security, points to a set of options for policies, programmes and investments to be undertaken by the global community, national governments and other stakeholders. Short-term measures should aim at reducing prices in domestic markets, mitigating their negative effects and boosting supply response to higher prices. At the same time, higher prices provide an opportunity for re-launching agriculture in developing countries through long-term public investments and programmes which will, in turn, catalyze private sector investments in response to higher profitability.

Over the long term, the best way to reduce food prices is to increase agricultural productivity through public investment in agricultural research, rural education, rural infrastructure, capacity building and to create efficient markets especially in rural sector. The design of innovative risk management instruments such as index-based weather insurance can also increase productivity. Investment in institutions and physical infrastructure in order to develop adequately functioning competitive markets allows the price increases to arrive at the farm gate. Meeting this precondition allows greater market participation. Given the increases in food prices, it also assists in providing to farmers the incentives to expand their production and increase their productivity. While these investments will not reduce food prices in the short term, it is important to keep these longer-term measures in mind or else sustainable food security will not be achieved.

In the medium term, to avoid monopolistic behaviours over the value chain, and to raise the producers' share of the price increase, it is important to strengthen the institutions and organizations of smallholder farmers, empowering them in the market and in the value chain.

Furthermore, interventions that facilitate producers' organizations to increase collective power and reduce transactions costs could also help smallholder farmers benefit from price increases. If access to assets for the poor is promoted, increasing market participation can be achieved. The benefits from increased market participation mean not only wider marketing margins (in contrast with self-consumption), but in addition may motivate expansion in the scale of production.

Securing access to land and strengthening the rights of the poor to agricultural assets and resources (land, water) should be high on the agenda of all stakeholders, both government and civil society organizations.

Mr Chairman, let me now turn to an important and comprehensive reform which is ongoing in FAO.

As many of you know, as well as having the honour to have been appointed Independent Chairperson of the Council by you, the Membership, you also appointed me Chair of the Conference Committee for Follow-up to the Independent External Evaluation of FAO (IEE). I would thus like to take advantage of my attendance at this Regional Conference to bring you up to date with where we stand in the process which we initiated with our IEE.

You will all remember that this has been a common journey, with its ups and downs but one which taken as a whole has reinforced our common purpose and unity. In November

2004, the Council agreed to launch an Independent External Evaluation of FAO (IEE). We rolled up our sleeves established a Working Group of the membership as a whole, and designed a common set of terms of reference, for a fully independent and professional evaluation. This we requested to provide forward looking proposals as to how to make our Organization FAO more effective in the service of us all. The Conference in November 2007 fully endorsed the terms of reference and we established a Committee of the Council to oversee the work.

We chose a highly qualified and professional evaluation team, drawn from all parts of the world and they did not disappoint us. They provided a comprehensive analysis and an extremely comprehensive set of proposals for **FAO Reform with Growth.** The Director-General has joined us the Membership in welcoming the report, its analysis and proposals. This we did in a Conference Resolution last November, which charted the next stage of our work on the basis of work undertaken by Friends of the Chair, involving all members, and which I had the privilege to preside over.

We have now established a Conference Committee of the membership as a whole, with three Working Groups. We are working our way systematically through the findings and recommendations of the IEE, providing our advice to management on the parts which are within their authority and arriving at our own conclusions on the many recommendations which concern us. We need to complete our basic work by July this year so that a special session of the FAO Conference in November of this year can chart the way forward, based on an Immediate Action Plan which includes the elements of a new strategic Framework and Medium-Term plan for FAO.

We have a challenging but exciting opportunity which is not going to come around again quickly if we do not grasp it now to build a better Organization to serve us better. This is not a zero sum game where a shrinking pot of resources has to be fought over perpetually by different interest groups among the membership. Of course we have very legitimate different interests, but we will all gain from more efficiency, and more relevance in what FAO does. We can also have reason for hope that as this increases confidence in the Organization, additional resources will start to flow.

The IEE contains very many worthwhile proposals, probably with a few which we might want to change. But I appeal to you that we do not lose sight of the big picture. The IEE is on balance a positive package and it presents an opportunity: let us continue to build on this opportunity. We have made a very good start. The IEE itself was a good start. The Conference Committee and its Working Groups are a good continuation. Much positive progress is being made in the working groups, but we could be making more. The Latin American and Caribbean region has played a very crucial role from the very beginning of this process. Brazil has chaired the Committee of the Council. Its report was welcomed both by the membership and by the Secretariat of FAO. Your representatives in Rome are very pro actively participating in the process.

The IEE recommends an enhanced role for regional conferences in FAO's decision making. This Conference along with the other regional conferences this year can provide both impetus and important views for us to take forward in the IEE-Follow-up process. I hope that you will take this opportunity in your interventions during the Conference and if you wish so informally to me and other colleagues from your own delegations who are working in Rome to carry our work forward.

Mr Chairman, usually it is impossible for me to resist the temptation to look back into history, of the so called developing world, not only to appreciate its unbounded richness but also to find solutions to the challenges facing us at the dawn of the third millennium.

In this particular case, this temptation has its roots both in the magnificent history of our host region as well as in the recent successes of our host country (Brazil).

Latin America and the Caribbean are the centres of domestication for some of the crops which have become universal and absolutely essential worldwide. Tomatoes originating from Mexico have become associated in everyone's imagination with the cuisine of Italy and the Mediterranean. Maize has become a staple crucial to much of Africa and elsewhere. Cacao and chocolate have become basic to the most popular and globally traded sweets and drinks. Who could imagine our world today without these crops which came from the innovations of the farmers of the Americas? During 2008 there is widespread recognition of the contribution of the region with the International Year of the Potato decided upon by the Member Nations at the General Assembly of the United Nations. Originating in the Andes 8000 years ago, the potato is now the World's Number Four food crop. It is most fitting that this year humanity celebrates its importance to our common heritage.

The remarkable recent achievements of our host country, Brazil, in agricultural development and modernization of this sector both in large scale agriculture and in small farm producers, in any account, is eye catching and involves many lessons to be learned. One example of high importance to the future of agricultural development is the biotechnology. Brazil works on the borders of knowledge in this area. This can serve many developing countries in their efforts to increase their agricultural production targeted in reduced hunger and food insecurity. I am confident that we can find similar examples in other countries of the region. Presence of the highest authorities of countries of the region in areas of agricultural development, food security and rural development provides an excellent opportunity to paying attention to our own collective abilities in overcoming the unacceptable situation of food insecurity and hunger in the world which is almost totally concentrated in developing countries and mainly in rural areas. Sharing of your national or even local experiences and successes could pave the roads for others to benefit from them and to adapt to their specific cases

Finally, at the regional level many Governments in Latin America and the Caribbean are facing the challenges to food insecurity and under-nourishment through national programmes in line with the Millennium Development Goals to half and ultimately end hunger. Our host country, Brazil, has developed an exceptional effort at the decentralised and national levels through *Fome Zero*, recognised globally for its accomplishments.

Mr Chairman, Distinguished Conference Members, there is now a regional platform for exchange of experiences, with 15 countries having established or in the process of establishing National Alliances against Hunger. This is an example of both regional and national commitment to alleviating the scourge of hunger.

Distinguished Members of the Conference, I wish you a very successful conference in promotion of the sacred goals of the FAO which is crystallised in its logo "FIAT PANIS" (food for all).

Address by the President of the Federative Republic of Brazil

My dear Jacques Diouf, Director-General of FAO,

Ambassador Celso Amorim, Minister for Foreign Affairs,

My dear Noori Naeeni, Independent Chairperson of the Council of FAO,

My dear Reinhold Stephanes, Minister for Agriculture, Livestock and Food Supply,

My dear Guilherme Cassel, Minister for Agrarian Development,

My dear Altemir Gregolin, Special Secretary for Aquaculture and Fisheries,

Mrs Arlete Sampaio, Acting Minister for Social Development and the Fight Against Hunger,

My dear José Graziano, FAO Regional Director for Latin America and the Caribbean, Ladies and Gentlemen.

Distinguished Ministers from the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean, Honourable Delegates,

Excellencies.

Friends from the Press,

Welcome to this Regional Conference of FAO.

The fight against hunger and poverty has returned to the headlines and to the attention of the international community.

The visibility of this serious problem, which I have denounced and fought since the first day of my government, is due to the global increase in food prices. An increase which in recent days, has led many people, desperate for food, to demonstrate in the streets of several cities in the developing world.

There is not just one explanation for this situation. It has resulted from a combination of factors: the higher price of oil; lower harvests in many countries, caused by adverse climatic events; increase in the cost of freightage; changes in exchange rate; speculation on financial markets and increased consumption of food in developing countries, such as China, India and Brazil and many other poorer countries.

We must avoid generalizations and simplifications if we are to address this problem properly.

The impact of weather, for example, is part of the history of world agriculture. The novelty, which is very welcome, is that more people are eating and eating better. That shows progress in the fight against hunger, poverty and inequality.

We need emergency solutions to mitigate the current crisis. But, above all, we need long-term actions to reduce the vulnerability of many countries to an aggravation of those problems.

The situation is serious in parts of the world. In our region, Haiti is severely affected. Last week Brazil sent 14 tonnes of food to that country and has contributed to the World Food Programme so it can buy and distribute food to the Haitian people. We hope that these initiatives will be followed by other countries. We also hope that this tragic situation will convince the rich countries that stability in Haiti must necessarily be based on its economic and social viability.

The crisis in world food security requires an urgent expansion of resources to combat hunger and poverty. Brazil has begun to play its part. In the framework of the International Action against Hunger and Poverty, we proposed the creation of innovative financial mechanisms. We obtained results in the area of health, but we are far from having sufficient instruments to deal with challenges of this magnitude.

The financing of development gained prominence in the agendas of the UN, the World Bank, the IMF and the G-8. But unfortunately the developed countries only react with greater resolve in emergency situations.

The so-called world food crisis is above all a crisis of opportunity and distribution. Each day 854 million men, women and children sleep in hunger. That is intolerable to us all.

In my government, the right to food became a central plank of its public policy agenda. We are extending agrarian reform, support to family farming, the provision of loans and technical assistance to the marketing of agricultural products. Adoption of the Food and Nutritional Security Act, in 2006, made access to food a permanent policy of the Brazilian State. We are applying social policies that increase people's income.

The "Bolsa Família" (Family Fund) is the largest programme of transfer of income in the history of Brazil, It now benefits more than 11 million poor families in our country. By providing minimum income and good nutrition to so many Brazilians, we are helping to make them more productive, more healthy and to give better conditions of education for their children.

We are making progress. Latin America and the Caribbean might be the only region to achieve the 2015 commitments of the World Food Summit and the first Millennium Goal of reducing the number of hungry people.

But we want more: we want to eradicate hunger from our continent. The Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative which Brazil and Guatemala launched in 2006 reflects that political commitment.

Mr dear Diouf.

The structures that have been created by the international community are not prepared for the millions that are being socially included. We need to produce more and to distribute better. Brazil, as an agricultural power, is keen to increase its production. But that is not enough.

The world also requires global policies that are committed to overcoming the problem and not merely palliatives and sticking plasters.

The inability of many countries to produce their own food is the result of decades, if not centuries, of distortions in international trade of agricultural products. Protectionism is a burden. Equally burdensome are the subsidies to agriculture of the rich which undermine the competitiveness of the small farmer. Such distortions create dependence, when not dismantling entire production structures.

The concept of food security has been distorted by some to justify protectionist practices that affect countries suffering from lack of food and economic options.

Food aid must be complemented by productive cooperation and by the opening of new markets and opportunities.

Real food security needs to be global and based on cooperation. It must be forged from a combination of measures that work in emergency situations, such as this one, but, above all, it requires long-term solutions.

Overcoming the present obstacles obviously requires a successful and early conclusion to the Doha Round of the WTO. An agreement that stops treating agricultural trade as an exception to the rules. That allows the poorest countries to generate income from their production and exports.

It also requires greater cooperation in agriculture, as Brazil has done with its African partners and with its partners in Central America and the Caribbean. An expansion of this type of initiative can benefit enormously from new partnerships that permit triangular cooperation.

Brazil has also focused on the enormous potential of biofuels, as an instrument of economic and social change in the poorest countries. Biofuels generate income and employment, especially in rural areas. They produce clean and renewable energy. They are an example of sustainability, of balance between environmental, social and economic aspects. That is the project in which I place great hope, especially for the future of many countries of Africa, Asia, Central America and the Caribbean.

It is therefore with growing concern that I see attempts to create a relationship of cause and effect between development of biofuels and shortage of food or increase in food prices.

My concern is all the greater when I see little mention of the negative impact of higher oil prices on the cost of producing and transporting food, on the cost of producing fertilizer. When I see that few criticize the harmful and lasting impact of subsidies and protectionism. That many criticize, rather than celebrate, increased food consumption in the more dynamic developing countries.

It is always easier to opt for simplistic answers; to conceal economic interests and political agendas behind supposed social and environmental concerns. It is difficult to discuss these issues on the basis of facts.

Biofuels are not the villain that is threatening the food security of the poorest nations. On the contrary, if developed with care and in accordance with the reality of each country, they can act as a crucial instrument for generating income and lifting countries out of food and energy insecurity. That is what our friend Sachs says: the role that bioenergy can play in containing the negative impacts of climate change, in creating employment opportunities in rural areas and in building alternative models of development.

Brazil's production of ethanol from sugar cane occupies a tiny part of its agricultural land; it does not reduce the food production area; and it does not use that land for its production. Its expansion has been based on productivity gains and on better use of land used for pasture. There is no risk of production in the Amazon region, nor of displacement of production. The same applies to biodiesel, which we are increasingly anchoring in family farming.

In all cases, we fence biofuel production with guarantees on the environment, labour and food security.

Other countries will have to conduct their studies and decide whether or not they can produce biofuels, and on what scale. They will need to define which plants are best suited to their needs. They will need to select projects on the basis of economic, social and environmental criteria.

More than 100 countries are naturally suited to the sustainable production of biofuels. In many of those countries, less than 20 percent of the population has access to sources of energy for their basic needs. It is each of those 100 countries that needs to take decisions on the merit or otherwise of adopting biofuels. Those decisions should not be imposed by others through pressures and protectionist measures.

The real "crime against humanity" is to discard biofuels *a priori* and to condemn countries, that strangled by lack of food and energy, to dependence and insecurity.

To ensure that the necessary debate on biofuels is conducted in a balanced manner, I am inviting government authorities, scientists and representatives of civil society from all interested countries to participate in the International Conference on Biofuels, which will take place next November in the State of São Paolo in Brazil. We wish to discuss, in a candid and informed manner, the challenges and the opportunities that lie before us.

The role of FAO, my dear Diouf, in this work of clarification is extremely important. I hope that I can continue to count on the balanced approach of its Director-General and his staff.

Dear companions, My dear Diouf and other partners,

The countries of Latin America, the Caribbean, Africa and Asia cannot and should not flee from this debate, from discussion of food security or from discussion of biofuels. This is a debate that needs to be conducted in a rational manner, without emotion, and without ideological bias, either from the right or from the left. We need scientific facts so we can discuss the direction we will offer to the world in coming years.

The poor countries can no longer carry the guilt for the actions of the rich countries. They agreed, under Kyoto, that everyone would contribute towards reducing global warming, but responsibility is being placed on the backs of the poor countries. They tell the poor countries that they cannot clear their forests because they created something called carbon credit, that will finance the poor countries. And I should like to know how many poor countries have already received carbon credit to finance their development without affecting forest. Similarly, poor countries are not responsible for the higher price of oil, poor countries are not responsible for the emission of CO2. But the poor countries are the victims of those policies. In the first place, the policy of protecting their markets, precisely when we are about to reach agreement on the Doha Round of WTO. One of the points of the G-20, also represented by our Minister Celso Amorim at the negotiation table, is that if there is no opening of the European agricultural market to the agricultural products of the poor countries, it will be very difficult to have an agreement and someone is going to have to assume the historic responsibility. If there is no reduction in the agricultural subsidies that the rich countries use to finance their producers, it will be difficult for the poor countries to be competitive on the agricultural market.

Now, if we do not have technology, if we do not have oil, and I am not speaking for Brazil, because as far as agriculture is concerned, Brazil is as competitive as any country in the world. I am speaking for tens and hundreds of other countries that do not have

technology, that do not have a developed industrial policy and that do not have technology for agriculture. And worse still, when the poor countries gather their harvest, what they gather is very often not enough to pay for the fertilizer they bought from the multinational companies that are usually in the rich countries of this world.

Either we have this discussion in earnest or, whenever something occurs such as in Haiti, we introduce an emergency measure to send a spot of food to temporarily satisfy the hungry and then wait for the next occurrence. It is very odd that an agricultural producing country, that (inaudible) should have a commodity market if only to adjust the price of soybean, to adjust the price of millet, to adjust the price of rice, of beans. We have to look at the prices determined in Chicago.

If the globalized world is undergoing changes, I believe that the countries considered to be developing and the poor countries need to enforce their logic. The logic of placing our problem at the centre of debate. I will give you an example: in the 1980s and 1990s, every delegate here today must have seen an IMF delegation descend on his or her country calling for fiscal adjustment, care of interest rates, reduction of the State, otherwise the country would go bankrupt. Curiously I never saw the IMF issue a single opinion on the American crisis. How much longer are we going to accept the role of bit players on the international scene? How much longer?

I hope my dear Diouf, and you know how attached I am to FAO, you know that here, in our country, we have in recent years accomplished a revolution in social inclusion that is unprecedented in our history. We know we cannot rectify the errors of 500 years in 5, 10 or 15 years; we know it is a process. But Brazil wants to be proud to be the first country to meet all the Millennium Goals set in Rome. And we will meet those goals because we are in a position to do so, and because we want to set an example for other countries to give priority to the politics of inclusion.

Today, in Brazil, many people are afraid because consumption in the Northeast is higher than consumption in the southern region of the country. But for one reason: for a long time those people had no access to the minimum ration of food. But today those same people are entering supermarkets and taking food home. Because, besides being able to work, those people are beginning, through the policy of transfer of income, to receive a modicum of dignity. If they had received that dignity throughout the last century, Brazil would already be a great power and not an emerging country.

I wish to say to my friend Diouf that he convinced me to go on 3 June to the FAO Conference in Rome. And I will, my dear Diouf, with the intention of entering the debate with all the seriousness that it requires. I understand the concerns, I do not criticize those who fear the danger of biofuels replacing food production. Because I believe that a citizen who ceases to fill his "tank" of food to fill his "tank" of fuel needs very serious treatment.

So, we must not accept the logic and dynamic of those who only view the world from within their continent. I have said in many discussions in Europe on biodiesel, that they should not look at their own territory where everything is so orderly. There are countries so developed that their agriculture, their production is so precise it looks like the home of newly weds. I tell them, look at those policies for the African continent, look at the world from the logic of the African continent, that no longer has the right to spend the 21st century as the victim of hunger it was in the 20th and in the 19th century. Look at Latin America, at all the poor countries, a few miles from the United States, that are also hungry. Because those who determine the logic of production are not the countries themselves. Those who determine the logic of fertilizers are not the countries themselves. Now therefore, what we need... I am looking here at my colleague Maluf, President of the

CONSEA (National Council of Food and Nutritional Security), what we need to do, my dear Maluf, is to create a CONSEA in each country of the world, so that food security becomes State policy, not the fortunate policy of combatants such as yourself. In Brazil, we have already done that. I hope that the world will do so because, who knows, Celso will find it easier in the Doha Round to approve an agreement in which Brazil does not need to win, but where Europe and the United States need to give way, and those that need to win are the poorest countries of the world.

Thank you very much and good luck.

AGENDA OF THE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE

(14 and 15 April 2008)

I. INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

- 1. Opening of the Technical Committee meeting
- 2. Election of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairpersons and appointment of the Rapporteur
- 3. Adoption of the Technical Committee Agenda and Timetable

II. TECHNICAL ITEMS

- 4. Policies to promote and/or strengthen the participation and joint action of public and private actors in rural development
- 5. Transboundary diseases
- 6. Opportunities and challenges of biofuel production for food security and the environment in Latin America and the Caribbean
- 7. Consultation and study meetings among delegations
- 8. Adoption of the Technical Committee report
- 9. Closure of the Technical Committee meeting

AGENDA OF THE PLENARY SESSION

(16 to 18 April 2008)

I. INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

- 1. Opening Ceremony
- 2. Election of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairpersons and appointment of the Rapporteur
- 3. Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable

II. STATEMENTS

- 4. Statement of the Director-General
- 5. Statement of the Independent Chairman of the Council of FAO
- 6. Report on FAO activities (2006-2007) aimed at achieving the Millennium Development Goals and the World Food Summit target.
- 7. Matters arising from the 34th Session of the Conference of FAO.
- 8. Reports of the Regional Commissions: Latin American and Caribbean Forestry Commission (LACFC) and Commission on Livestock Development for Latin America and the Caribbean (CPDEGALAC)
- 9. Food safety: Effective participation of developing countries in Codex Alimentarius meetings
- 10. Pressing global and regional issues: Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative
- 11. Round Table: Follow-up to the International Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development (Porto Alegre, Brazil, March 2006)

III. CONCLUDING ITEMS

- 12. Date and place of the 31st Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean
- 13. Other matters
- 14. Adoption of the report (including the Technical Committee report)
- 15. Closure of the Regional Conference

APPENDIX E

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

CONFERENCE OFFICERS

Chairperson Guilherme Cassel Brazil Reinhold Stephanes Brazil

Simeon Pinder **Vice-Chairpersons** Bahamas

> Haynesley Benn Barbados Mauricio Dofler Bolivia Celso Amorim Brazil Reinaldo Ruiz Chile Sergio Diaz Colombia Carlos Villalobos Costa Rica Pedro Nuñez Cuba

Mario Arvelo Dominican Republic

Lucy Montalvo Ecuador Mario Aldana Guatemala Zuleika Budhan Jamaica Francisco Lopez Tostado Mexico Benjamin Dixon Nicaragua Gerardo Bogado Paraguay

Hugo de Zela Peru Kermechend Raghoebarsing Suriname

Arnold Pigott Trinidad and Tobago

Ernesto Agazzi Uruguay Gerardo Rojas Venezuela

Gabriel Marcelo Fuks Rapporteur Argentina

TECHNICAL COMMITTEE OFFICERS

Laudemir Millar Chairpersons Brazil Brazil

Celio Porto

Barbados **Vice-Chairpersons** Haynesley Benn

Ernesto Agazzi Uruguay

Rapporteur Liz Coronel Paraguay

MEMBER NATIONS SERVICED BY THE REGIONAL OFFICE

ARGENTINA

Head of Delegation
Gabriel Marcelo Fuks
Embajador
Presidente de Comisión Cascos Blancos
Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores,
Comercio Internacional y Culto

Alternates

María del Carmen Squeff Representante Permanente Alterna de la República Argentina ante la FAO

Ariel Fernandez Subdirector de Cooperación Multilateral Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores,

Comercio Internacional y Culto

Gabriela Catalani Coordinación Técnica FAO/CODEX Dirección Nacional de Mercados Secretaría de Agricultura, Ganadería, Pesca y Alimentos

Eduardo Polcan Coordinador Alterno de la REAF Secretaría de Agricultura, Ganadería, Pesca y Alimentos

Fernando Urbani Consejero Agrícola Embajada de la República Argentina en Brazil

Patricio Violini Comisión Cascos Blancos Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores, Comercio Internacional y Culto

BAHAMAS

Head of Delegation
Simeon Pinder
Director of Agriculture
Ministry of Agriculture and Marine
Resources

BARBADOS

Head of Delegation
Haynesley Benn
Minister of Agriculture and Rural
Development
Ministry of Agriculture and Rural
Development

Alternates
Barton Clarke
Chief Agricultural Officer
Ministry of Agriculture and Rural
Development

BOLIVIA

<u>Head of Delegation</u> Mauricio Dorfler Embajador de Bolivia en Brazil

Alternates
Ronald Barrancos
Segundo Secretario
Embajada de Bolivia en Brazil

Geovana Miranda Embajada de Bolivia en Brazil

BRAZIL

<u>Head of Delegation</u>
Celso Amorim
Ministro de Estado de Relaciones
Exteriores

<u>Alternates</u>

Presidencia de la República

Lécio Lima da Costa Asesoría - Gabinete Personal del Presidente de la República

Iracema Ferreira de Moura Asesoría - Gabinete Personal del Presidente de la República

Vera Lucia Lorido Barreto Asesoría - Gabinete Personal del Presidente de la República Esther Bemerguy de Albuquerque Secretaria Consejo de Desarrollo Económico y Social (SEDES)

Maria Luiza Falcão Silva Consejo de Desarrollo Económico y Social (SEDES)

Ana Paula Machado Consejo de Desarrollo Económico y Social (SEDES)

Roberto Seara Pojo Consejo de Desarrollo Económico y Social (SEDES)

Arthur Henrique Silva Santos Consejero SEDES Central Única de Trabalhadores (CUT)

Renato Sérgio Jamil Maluf Presidente CONSEA

Edélcio Vigna Consejero CONSEA Instituto de Estudos Socioeconômicos (INESC)

Gleyse Peiter Consejera CONSEA Comitê de Entidades no Combate à Fome e pela Vida(COEP)

Paulo Estevão Coordinador CONSEA

Carmem Priscila Bocchi Asesora Técnica CONSEA

Laura Fernandes Coordinadora de la Asesoría de Comunicación CONSEA

Cecília Jorge Asesora de Imprensa CONSEA

Michelle Andrade Asesora de Comunicación CONSEA

Marcelo Torres Asesor de Comunicación CONSEA

Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores (MRE)

Luiz Henrique Pereira da Fonseca Embajador, Director de la Agencia Brazileña de Cooperación (ABC)

Ruy Nogueira Embajador, Subsecretario-General de Cooperación y Promoción Comercial

Everton Vieira Vargas Embajador, Subsecretario-General de Política-I

José Antônio Marcondes de Carvalho Embajador, Representante Permanente de Brazil ante la FAO

André Aranha Corrêa do Lago Ministro, Director del Departamento de Energía

Flávio Soares Damico Ministro, Jefe de la División de Agricultura y Productos de Base

Carlos Márcio Bicalho Cozendey Ministro, Director del Departamento Económico

Francisco Fontenelle Consejero, Coordinación General de Acciones Internacionales de Combate al Hambre

Milton Rondó Consejero, Coordinador General de Acciones Internacionales de Combate al Hambre

Claudia Vieira Santos Secretaria, Jefe de la División de Recursos Energéticos Nuevos y Renovables

Arnaldo de Baena Fernandes Secretario, División de Agricultura y Produtos de Base

João Paulo Soares Alsina Junior Secretario, Departamento Económico Mauro Furlan da Silva Secretario, Coordinación General de Acciones Internacionales de Combate al Hambre

Saulo Arantes Ceolin Secretario, Representación Permanente de Brazil ante la FAO

Mário Gustavo Mottin Secretario, Representación Permanente del Brazil ante la FAO

Ricardo Morais Barros Secretario, Coordinación General de Acciones Internacionales de Combate al Hambre

Alessandro de Rezende Pinto Secretario, Departamento Económico

Carlos Henrique Angrisani Santana Secretario, División de Agricultura y Productos de Base

Marcelo Salomão Martinez Secretario, División de Recursos Energéticos Nuevos y Renovables

Daniella Poppius Brichta Secretaria, División del Meio Ambiente

Bruna Mara Liso Gagliardi Secretaria, Coordinación General de Acciones Internacionales de Combate al Hambre

Pedro Bracante Secretario, División de Recursos Energéticos Nuevos y Renovables

Márcio Lopes Corrêa Coordinador General de Cooperación Técnica Recibida Multilateral Agencia Brazileña de Cooperación (ABC)

Fernanda Oliveira Barreto Gerente de Coordinación General de Cooperación Técnica Recibida Multilateral

Lemirtes da Silva Candido Cerrato Coordinación General de Cooperación Técnica Recibida Multilateral - ABC Vinícius Betsur Alvarenga Fernandes Coordinación General de Cooperación Técnica Recibida Multilateral - ABC

Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Abastecimiento (MAPA)

Reinhold Stephanes Ministro de Estado de Agricultura, Ganadería y Abastecimiento

Silas Brazileiro Secretario Ejecutivo del Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Abastecimiento

Manoel Vicente Fernandes Bertone Secretario de Produción y Agroenergía (SPAE)

Márcio Antonio Portocarrero Secretario de Desarrollo Agropecuario y Cooperativismo (SDC)

Célio Brovino Porto Secretario de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio (SRI)

Antonio Luiz Machado de Morais Secretaría de Política Agrícola (SPA)

Alexandre Betinardi Strapasson Secretaría de Produción y Agroenergía

Luís Carlos M. Job Secretaría de Produción y Agroenergía

Frederique Rosa e Abreu Secretaría de Produción y Agroenergía

Cid Jorge Caldas Secretaría de Produción y Agroenergía

Jose Nilton S. Vieira Secretaría de Produción y Agroenergía

Tiago Quintela Giuliani Secretaría de Produción y Agroenergía

César Nunes de Castro Secretaría de Produción y Agroenergía

Rogério Pereira Dias Secretaría de Desarrollo Agropecuario y Cooperativismo Leontino Rezende Taveira Secretaría de Desarrollo Agropecuario y Cooperativismo

Fernando Leite Magalhães Secretaría de Desarrollo Agropecuario y Cooperativismo

Lino Colsera Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio

Benedito Rosa do Espírito Santo Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio

Eliana Valéria Covolan Figueiredo Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio

Telma Gondo Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio

Eliezer de Lima Lopes Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio

Daniel Amin Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio

Luiz Carlos de Oliveira Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio

Guilherme Antonio da Costa Junior Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio

Marcio Rezende Evaristo Carlos Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio

Horrys Friaça Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio

Alexandre Pontes Secretaría de Relaciones Internacionales del Agronegocio Jorge Caetano Junior Secretaría de Defesa Agropecuária (SDA)

Jamil Gomes de Souza Secretaría de Defesa Agropecuária

Helinton José Rocha Secretario Sustituto de Desarrollo Agropecuario y Cooperativismo (SDC)

Kátia Marzall Secretaría de Desarrollo Agropecuario y Cooperativismo

Adélia Azeredo Jefe Asesoría de Comunicación Social (ACS)

Rosane Henn Asesoría de Comunicación Social

Edit Silva Asesoría de Comunicación Social

Laila Muniz Asesoría de Comunicación Social

Carlos Silva dos Santos Asesoría de Comunicación Social

Marisa Attuch Asesoría de Comunicación Social

Gustavo Costa de Moura Director, Comisión Ejecutiva del Plan de Labranza del Cacao (CEPLAC)

Wellington Duarte da Costa Comisión Ejecutiva del Plan de Labranza del Cacao (CEPLAC)

Jay Wallace da Silva e Mota Comisión Ejecutiva del Plan de Labranza del Cacao (CEPLAC)

Jonas de Souza Comisión Ejecutiva del Plan de Labranza del Cacao (CEPLAC)

Cloíldo Guanaes Mineiro Comisión Ejecutiva del Plan de Labranza del Cacao (CEPLAC) Luís Carlos Cordeiro de Almeida Comisión Ejecutiva del Plan de Labranza del Cacao (CEPLAC)

Alaor Moacyr Dall'Antônia Jr. Instituto Nacional de Meteorología (INMET)

Lauro Tadeu Guimarães Fortes Instituto Nacional de Meteorología

Silvio Crestana Presidente - Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Esdras Sundfeld Jefe de Investigación & Desarrollo – Embrapa/Agroenergía Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Geraldo Eugênio de França Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Tatiana de Abreu Sá Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Kepler Euclides Filho Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Elísio Contini Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Elias de Freitas Junior Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Alexandre Cardoso Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Jose de Souza e Silva Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Frederico Machado Durães Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA) Cléber Oliveira Soares Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

José Antonio Azevedo Espíndola Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

João Carlos Costa Gomes Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Pedro Carlos Gama da Silva Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Marília Regini Nutti Empresa Brazileña de Investigación Agropecuaria (EMBRAPA)

Wagner Gonçalves Rossi Presidente - Compañia Nacional de Abastecimiento (CONAB)

Silvio Isopo Porto Director de Logística y Gestión Empresarial CONAB

Rogério Colombini Moura Duarte Director de Gestión de Estoques -CONAB

Luiz Henrique Baldez Director Administrativo y Financiero -CONAB

Milton Ortolan Jefe de Gabinete del Presidente -CONAB

Mônica Cristina Alfaf Julien Sousa Superintendência de Programas Institucionais e Sociais de Abastecimento (SUPAB) - CONAB

Eduardo Safons Soares Diretoria de Logística e Gestão Empresarial (DIGEM) - CONAB

Rogério Augusto Neuwald Diretoria de Logística e Gestão Empresarial (DIGEM) - CONAB Rocilda Moreira Gerência de Acompanhamento e Controle das Ações da Agricultura Familiar (GECAF) CONAB

Paulo Morceli Superintendência de Gestão da Oferta (SUGOF) - CONAB

Lucas Maciel CONAB

Antônio Marcos Nogueira da Costa Asesoría de Prensa - CONAB

José Lourenço Pechtoll Asesoría de Planeamiento Companhia de Entrepostos e Armazéns Gerais de São Paulo (CEAGESP)

Ministerio de Educación (MEC)

Fernando Haddad Ministro de Estado de Educación

Leonardo B. Rosa Jefe interino de la Asesoría Internacional

Daniel Silva Balaban Presidente Fondo Nacional de Desarollo de la Educación (FNDE)

Albaneide Peixinho Coordinadora-General del Programa de Alimentación Escolar Fondo Nacional de Desarollo de la Educación (FNDE)

Rafael Torino Director de Acciones Educacionales Fondo Nacional de Desarollo de la Educación (FNDE)

Eliene Ferreira de Sousa Coordinadora Técnica de Alimentación y Nutrición Fondo Nacional de Desarollo de la Educación (FNDE)

Cássia Augusta Amaral Buani Fondo Nacional de Desarollo de la Educación (FNDE) Viviane da Silva Mustafa Fondo Nacional de Desarollo de la Educación (FNDE)

Potira Morena Souza Benko de Uru Fondo Nacional de Desarollo de la Educación (FNDE)

Suzana Verissimo Asesora de Comunicación Social Fondo Nacional de Desarollo de la Educación (FNDE)

Lucimeiry Lima Cardoso Periodista - Asesoría de Comunicación Social Fondo Nacional de Desarollo de la Educación (FNDE)

Maria Luiza da Silva Agente del Programa Nacional de Alimentacion Escolar - PNAE/ Universidad de Brasília

Estefania Ferraz Barboza Davila Mendes Agente del Programa Nacional de Alimentacion Escolar - PNAE/ Universidad de Brasília

Fábio Silva Agente del Programa Nacional de Alimentacion Escolar - PNAE/ Universidad de Brasília

Carolina Martins dos Santos Chagas Consultora

Lorena Gonçalves Chaves Consultora

Rosane Nascimento Asociación Brazileña de Salud y Alimentación Escolar

Ministerio del Desarollo Social y Combate al Hambre (MDS)

Patrus Ananias Ministro de Estado del Desarollo Social y Combate al Hambre

Arlete Sampaio Secretaria Ejecutiva Onaur Ruano Secretario Nacional de Seguridad Alimentaria y Nutricional

Adriana Aranha Jefe de Gabinete del Ministro

Conselheiro Silas Leite da Silva Jefe de Asesoría Internacional

Frederico Campos Guanais de Aguiar Asesor Especial del Ministro

Bianca Lazarini Asesoría del Hambre Cero

Nilson Figueiredo Filho Asesoría del Hambre Cero

Ellen Cristine Bonadio Benedetti Asesoría Internacional

Luciane Pereira Soares Asesoría Internacional

Crispim Moreira
Director del Departamento de Promoción
de Sistemas Descentralizados
Secretaría Nacional de Seguridad
Alimentaria y Nutricional (SESAN)

Marco Aurélio Loureiro Director de Departamento de Apoyo a Proyectos Especiales - SESAN

José César de Medeiros Director de Departamento de Gestión Integrada de Política - SESAN

Fátima Regina Carneiro Cassanti Coordinadora General de Promoción de Programas de Alimentación y Nutrición - SESAN

João Augusto de Freitas Coordinador General de Apoyo a la Agricultura Urbana - SESAN

Renata Mainenti Gomes Técnica de la Coordinación General de Apoyo a la Agricultura Urbana - SESAN Diogo Gomes de Araujo Técnico del Departamento de Gestión Integrada de la Política - SESAN

Roberta Patrícia Coordinadora General de Apoyo a los Sistemas Descentralizados - SESAN Elenita Correia Cordinadora de Apoyo a la Política Nacional de Seguridad Alimentaria -SESAN

Letícia Cristina Sant'anna Coordinadora General de Apoyo a la Inclusión Productiva – SESAN

Alexandro Rodrigues Pinto Coordinador General de Difusión de Iniciativas Innovadoras - SESAN

Sabrina Ionata Coordinadora General de Educación Alimentaria y Nutricional - SESAN

Mariana Helcias Coordinadora de Educación Alimentaria y Nutricional - SESAN

Kamila Thabita Asesora del Gabinete - SESAN

Zorilda Araújo Jefa del Gabinete - SESAN

lara Monteiro Asesora del Gabinete - SESAN

Vera Lúcia Dolabella Barbi Tecnica de Apoyo a Sistemas Descentralizados - SESAN

Sonia Maria Gomes de Carvalho Asesora Secretaria de Articulación Institucional y Aparcerías (SAIP)

Ministerio de Salud (MS)

José Gomes Temporão Ministro de Estado de Salud

Ana Beatriz Pinto de Almeida Vasconcelos Coordinadora General Coordinación General de la Política de Alimentación y Nutrición (CGPAN)

Eduardo Augusto Nilson Coordinador General Suplente- CGPAN

Janine Giuberti Coutinho Consultora técnica - CGPAN Marta Fonseca Veloso Agencia Nacional de Vigilancia Sanitaria (ANVISA)

Antonia Maria de Aquino Agencia Nacional de Vigilancia Sanitaria (ANVISA)

Renata Campos Motta Agencia Nacional de Vigilancia Sanitaria (ANVISA)

Patrícia Oliveira Pereira Agencia Nacional de Vigilancia Sanitaria (ANVISA)

Erika Mattos da Veiga Agencia Nacional de Vigilancia Sanitaria (ANVISA)

Hoeck Miranda Agencia Nacional de Vigilancia Sanitaria (ANVISA)

Karem Modernell Agencia Nacional de Vigilancia Sanitaria (ANVISA)

Denise de Oliveira Resende Agencia Nacional de Vigilancia Sanitaria (ANVISA)

Ministerio del Desarollo, Industria y Comercio Exterior (MDIC)

Miguel Jorge Ministro de Estado del Desarollo, Industria y Comercio Exterior Maria Aparecida Martinelli Coordinadora-General del Comitê del Codex Alimentariaius de Brazil (CCAB) Instituto Nacional de Metrologia, Normalización y Calidad Industrial (INMETRO)

Cristiane Sampaio Instituto Nacional de Metrologia, Normalización y Calidad Industrial (INMETRO)

Ministerio de Minas y Energia (MME)

Edison Lobão Ministro de Estado de Minas y Energia

Ministro Rubem Antonio Correa Barbosa, Asesor Internacional

Manoel P. de Castro Neto Coordinador General - Oficina de la ANP en Brasilia (EDP) Agencia Nacional del Petroleo, Gas Natural y Biocombustibles (ANP)

Ministerio de Planeamiento, Presupuesto y Gestión (MPOG)

Tânia Mara Eller da Cruz Analista de Planeamiento y Presupuesto Secretaria del Presupuesto Federal

Ministerio de Ciencia y Tecnología (MCT)

Sergio Machado Rezende Ministro de Estado de Ciencia y Tecnología

Joe Carlo Viana Valle Secretario de Ciencia y Tecnología para la Inclusión Social (SECIS)

Lana Magaly Pires Coordinadora-General Investigación y Desarollo de la Seguridad Alimentaria y Nutricional

Ministerio de Medio Ambiente(MMA)

Marina da Silva Vaz de Lima Ministra de Estado de Medio Ambiente

Egon Krakhecke Secretario de Extrativismo y Desarrollo Rural Sostenible (SEDR)

Gustavo Costa Asesoría de Asuntos Internacionales (ASIN)

Paulo Guilherme Francisco Cabral Director, Departamento de Desarrollo Rural Sostenible (DRS/SEDR)

Roberto Ricardo Vizentin Director, Departamento de Zoneamento Territorial (DZT/SEDR)

Marcos Dal Fabbro Jefe de Gabinete - SEDR

Raquel Breda dos Santos Jefe alterna de la Asesoría de Asuntos Internacionales (ASIN)

Carlos Roberto Fonseca Gestor Gubernamental - ASIN

Gustavo Tavares da Costa Analista Ambiental - ASIN

José Roberto de Lima Coordinador del Programa Combate a la Desertificación - SEDR

Mário Augusto Campos Cardoso Gerente del Proyecto Biocombustible – SEDR

Claudia Maria Calório Gerente del Proyecto Agroextrativismo -SEDR

Rodrigo Sabença Analista Ambiental - SEDR

Lídio Coradin Gerente de Proyecto, Secretaria de Biodiversidad y Bosques (SBF) Leonel Pereira Gerente de Proyecto - SBF

Luiz Carlos Bolcewicz Assesor Técnico Especializado - SBF Jorg Zimmermann Asesor Especial

Ministerio de Integración Nacional (MI)

Gedel Vieira Lima Ministro de Estado de Integración Nacional

Ministerio del Desarollo Agrario (MDA)

Guilherme Cassel Ministro de Estado de Desarrollo Agrario Marcelo Cardona Secretario Ejecutivo

Caio França Jefe de Gabinete

Laudemir André Müller Asesor Especial del Ministro de Desarrollo Agrario

Celso Mendes de Carvalho Jefe de Asesoría Internacional y de Promoción Comercial

Francesco Pierri Asesoría Internacional y de Promoción Comercial

Guilherme Rocha Asesoría Internacional y de Promoción Comercial

Rafael Cedro Asesoría Internacional y de Promoción Comercial

Márcio Pontual Asesoría Internacional y de Promoción Comercial

Eduardo Alvim Asesoría Internacional y de Promoción Comercial Plínio Pereira

Asesoría Internacional y de Promoción Comercial

Simone Neto

Asesoría Internacional y de Promoción Comercial

Adoniran Peraci Secretario de Agricultura Familiar

Arnoldo Anacleto de Campos Director del Departamento de Generación de Renta y Agregación de Valor Secretaria de Agricultura Familiar (SAF)

Jânio Rosa

Coordinador-General de Agregación de Valor y Rentas - SAF

Ana Luísa Müller Consultora del Departamento de Generación de Renta y Agregación de Valor - SAF

João Luiz Guadagnin Director del Departamento de Financiamiento y Protección de la Producción - SAF

Letícia Koeppel Mendonça Coordinadora de Crédito Rural - SAF

Maria Virgínia de Almeida Aguiar Consultora del Departamento de Assistência Técnica y Extensión Rural -SAF

Heloísa Helena Vasconcelos de Aquino Consultora del Departamento de Assistência Técnica y Extensión Rural -SAF

Lilian dos Santos Rahal Jefe de Gabinete - SAF

Humberto Oliveira Secretario de Desarrollo Territorial

Roseli Bueno de Andrade Secretaría de Desarrollo Territorial (SDT)

Vera Maria Moura Echenique Azevedo Secretaría de Desarrollo Territorial (SDT) Pricilla Silva Araujo Secretaría de Desarrollo Territorial (SDT)

Marcelo Duncan Asesor Especial del Ministro Secretaría de Desarrollo Territorial (SDT)

Lívia Bergamaschine Secretaría de Desarrollo Territorial (SDT)

Adhemar Lopes de Almeida Secretario de Reordenamiento Agrario

Dino Sandro Borges de Castilhos Director del Departamento de Reordenamiento Agrario Secretaría de Reordenamiento Agrario (SRA)

Raimundo da Costa Sobrinho Director del Departamento de Crédito Agrario- SRA

Marlon Duarte Barbosa Coordinador General de Planeamiento, Monitoreo y Avaliación- SRA

João Leonel dos Anjos Director del Departamento de Crédito Fundiário Substituto - SRA

Fernanda Gomes Philomeno Asistente Técnica de la Coordinación General de Planeamiento, Monitoreo y Avaliación - SRA

Fernando Sertã Meressi Subsecretario Adjunto de Planeamiento, Presupuesto y Administración

Alexandre Lemos Coelho Neto Coordinador General de Planeamiento y Presupuesto

Carlos Alberto Roncisvalle Coordinador de Planeamiento

Palova Souza Brito Asesoría de Prensa

Clarita Rickli Asesoría de Prensa Ubirajara Machado Asesoría de Prensa

Renata Leite

Programa de Promoción de Igualdad de Género, Raza y Etnia (PPIGRE)

Andrea Butto

Programa de Promoción de Igualdad de Género, Raza y Etnia (PPIGRE)

Paula Melo

Programa de Promoción de Igualdad de Género, Raza y Etnia (PPIGRE)

Karla da Hora

Programa de Promoción de Igualdad de Género, Raza y Etnia (PPIGRE)

Rolf Hackbart

Presidente del Instituto Nacional de Colonización y reforma Agraria (INCRA)

Francisco Nascimento Jefe de Gabinete - INCRA Carlos Kovalski Assessor de la Presidência - INCRA

Raimundo João Amorim Pereira Director de Gestão Estratégica - INCRA

Raimundo Araújo Lima Director de Programas – INCRA

Angelo Menegat Assessor de la Presidência - INCRA

Raimundo Pires da Silva Superintendente INCRA / São Paulo

Ministerio de las Ciudades (MCidades)

Márcio Fortes de Almeida Ministro de Estado de las Ciudades

Luiz Carlos Fabbri Asesoría de Relaciones Internacionales

Secretaría General de la Presidencia de la República (SGPR)

Luiz Dulci Ministro de Estado Jefe de la Secretaría General de la Presidencia de la República

Wilnês Henrique Asesora Especial

Renato Martins Asesor Especial para Asuntos Internacionales

Gerson Luiz de Almeida Silva Secretario Nacional de Articulación Social

Cristina Sampaio Lopes Asesora de Asuntos Internacionales

Núcleo de Asuntos Estratégicos de la Presidencia de la Republica (NAE/PR)

Ricardo Da Silva Asesor Especial

Juçara Santiago Pedreira Asesora

Diana Magalhães de Souza Coutinho Asesora

Ariel Pares Asesor

Patricia Darío El-moor Hadjab Socióloga Investigadora Instituto de Investigación Económica Aplicada (IPEA)

Secretaría Especial de Acuicultura y Pesca (SEAP)

Altemir Gregolin Ministro de Estado de la Secretaría Especial de Aquicultura y Pesca

Cleberson Carneiro Zavaski Jefe de Gabinete

Jose Claudenor Vermohlen Subsecretario de Planeamiento

Karim Bacha Subsecretario de Desarrollo

Sheila Maria Assis Oliveira Asesora Especial João Dias Machado Coordinador General de Pesca Artesanal

João Felipe Matias Director de Desarollo de la Acuicultura

Vinicius Frizzo Pasquotto Gerente de Proyectos

Francisco Osvaldo Alves Barbosa Asesor para Asuntos Internacionales

Tatiana Beltrão Asesoría de Prensa

Secretaría Especial de los Derechos Humanos (SEDH)

Paulo de Tarso Vannuchi Secretario Especial de los Derechos Humanos

Jader José de Oliveira Subsecretaría de Promoción y Defensa de los Derechos del Niño y del Adolescente

Mari Carmen Rial Gerpe Asesora

Thiago Menezes Asesor

Senado Federal (SF)

Garibaldi Alves Filho Senador Presidente del Senado

Neuto De Conto Senador Presidente de la Comisión de Agricultura y Reforma Agraria

Cámara de Diputados (CD)

Arlindo Chinaglia Deputado Presidente de la Cámara de Diputados

Onyx Lorenzoni Deputado Presidente de la Comisión de Agricultura, Pecuária, Abastecimiento y Desarollo Rural

Florisvaldo Fier (Dr. Rosinha)
Deputado
Presidente del Frente Parlamentario por
la Reforma Agraria

Nazareno Fonteles Deputado Presidente del Frente Parlamentario por la Seguridad Alimentaria

Deputado José Paulo Tóffano Líder del Partido Verde

Sector Privado

Cesário Ramalho da Silva Presidente Sociedade Rural Brazileira (SRB)

Márcio Lopez Freitas Presidente Organização das Cooperativas Brazileiras (OCB) y Serviço Nacional do Cooperativismo (SESCOOP)

André Meloni Nassar Director General Instituto de Estudios del Comercio y Negociaciones Internacionales (ICONE)

Lucy Frota Confederación de la Agricultura e Pecuária do Brazil (CNA)

Antonio Donizeti Beraldo Confederação da Agricultura e Pecuária do Brazil (CNA)

Miguel Soldatelli Rossetto ex-Ministro de Estado del Desarrollo Agrário

Marcos Mattos Organização das Cooperativas Brazileiras (OCB)

Rodrigo Lima Instituto de Estudos do Comércio e Negociações Internacionais (ICONE) Dario Abbud Righi Sindicato das Industrias de Alimentação Animal (SINDIRAÇÕES)

Carlos Guilherme Adalberto Mielitz Netto Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS)

Darlene Testa Central Única de Trabalhadores (CUT)

Flavia Antunes Secretaria de Estado de Assistência Social e Direitos Humanos (SEASDH) Governo do Rio de Janeiro

Amanda Poldi Associação Brazileira das Índustrias da Alimentação

CHILE

Head of Delegation
Reinaldo Ruiz
Subsecretario de Agricultura
Ministerio de Agricultura

<u>Alternates</u> Alvaro Díaz Embajador

Embajada de Chile en Brazil

Cecilia Rojas Le-Bert Jefa del Departamento de Cooperación Internacional Ministerio de Agricultura

Luis Felipe Artal Primer Secretario Embajada de Chile en Brazil

COLOMBIA

Head of Delegation
Sergio Diaz Aguilera
Ministro Plenipotenciario
Embajada de Colombia en Brazil

<u>Alternates</u>

Andrea Cristina Bonnet
Primer Secretario
Dirección de Asuntos Económicos,
Sociales y Ambientales Multilaterales

Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores de la República de Colombia

Marylu Nicholls Consejera Embajada de Colombia en Brazil

COSTA RICA

<u>Head of Delegation</u>
Carlos Villalobos
Viceministro de Agricultura y Ganadería
Ministerio de Agricultura y Ganadería

Alternates
Jorge Robles
Embajador
Embajada de Costa Rica en Brazil
Carlos Bolaños
Presidente Ejecutivo
Instituto de Desarrollo Agrario

CUBA

Head of Delegation
Pedro Nuñez Mosquera
Embajador Extraordinario y
Plenipotenciario de la República de Cuba
en Brazil

<u>Alternates</u> María Emilia Cabrera Consejera Embajada de Cuba en Brazil

Alejandro Díaz Ministro Consejero Embajada de Cuba en Brazil

José Arsenio Quintero Funcionario Ministerio Inversión Extranjera y Colaboracion Económica de Cuba

Lochy Batista Le Riverend Head of Plant Protection Division Instituto de Investigaciones en Fruticultura Tropical

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

Head of Delegation Mario Arvelo Embajador Representante Permanente de República Domicana ante la FAO, el FIDA y el PMA

Alternate

Pedro Pablo Peña Subsecretario de Estado Técnico de Planificación Sectorial Agropecuaria Secretaría de Estado de Agricultura

ECUADOR

Head of Delegation Lucy Montalvo Pazmino Subsecretaria Regional de la Sierra Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería, Acuacultura y Pesca

GUATEMALA

Head of Delegation

Mario Aldana Viceministro de Agricultura, Recursos Naturales Renovables y Alimentación

Alternates

Carlos Jiménez Embajador Embajada de Guatemala en Brazil

Luisa Bonilla Galvão de Queiroz Primer Secretario y Cónsul Embajada de Guatemala en Brazil

JAMAICA

Head of Delegation Zuleika Budhan

Principal Director

Planning, Policy and Development

Division

Ministry of Agriculture

MEXICO

Head of Delegation

Francisco López Tostado Subsecretario de Agricultura Secretaría de Agricultura, Ganadería, Desarrollo Rural, Pesca y Alimentación (SAGARPA)

Alternates

Jorge Chen Charpentier

Presidente Pro-Témpore del Grupo de Países Latinoamericanos Embajador, Representante Permanente de México ante la FAO Representación Permanente de México ante la FAO

Andrés Valencia Embajador Embajada de México en Brazil

Víctor Villalobos Coordinador de Asuntos Internacionales Secretaría de Agricultura, Ganadería, Desarrollo Rural, Pesca y Alimentación (SAGARPA)

Marco Antonio Huerta Sánchez Secretario Embajada de México en Brazil

NICARAGUA

<u>Head of Delegation</u> Benjamín Dixon Viceministro Agropecuario y Forestal

PANAMA

Head of Delegation
Guillermo Salazar
Ministro de Desarrollo Agropecuario
Ministerio de Desarrollo Agropecuario

PARAGUAY

Head of Delegation
Gerardo Bogado

Viceministro de Ganadería

Ministerio de Agricultura y Ganadería

Alternates

Luis Gonzalez Arias

Embaiador

Embajada del Paraguay en Brazil

Roberto Benitez

Ministro

Embajada del Paraguay en Brazil

Igor Pangrazio

Ministro

Embajada del Paraguay en Brazil

Liz Coronel Consejera Representación Permanente del Paraguay ante los Organismos Internacionales con Sede en Roma

Rodrigo Velázquez Primer Secretario Embajada del Paraguay en Brazil

Carlos Closs Segundo Secretario Embajada del Paraguay en Brazil

Antonia Caballero Tercera Secretaria Embajada del Paraguay en Brazil

Julio Brun Rojas Gerente de Políticas y Planificación Instituto Nacional de Desarrollo Rural y de la Tierra (INDERT)

PERU

Head of Delegation

Hugo de Zela Embajador del Perú en Brazil Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

Alternates

César de las Casas Ministro Agregado Embajada del Perú en Brazil Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

Manuel Alvarez Consejero Delegado Representación Permanente del Perú ante la FAO Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

Christián Córdova Secretario Agregado Embajada del Perú en Brazil Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

SURINAME

Head of Delegation

Kermechend Raghoebarsing Minister for Agriculture, Animal Husbandry and Fisheries Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Husbandry and Fisheries

Alternates

Mavis G. Demon-Belgraef Ambassador Embassy of Suriname in Brazil

Mildred R. Nannan Counselor Embassy of Suriname in Brazil

Valerie Lalji Member Staff Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Husbandry and Fisheries

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Head of Delegation

Arnold Piggott
Minister of Agriculture, Land and Marine
Resources
Ministry of Agriculture, Land and Marine
Resources

Alternates

Monica June Clement Ambassador to Brazil Embassy of Trinidad of Tobago in Brazil

Yvonne Davidson Senior Planning Officer Ministry of Agriculture, Land and Marine Resources

URUGUAY

Head of Delegation

Ernesto Agazzi Ministro de Ganadería, Agricultura y Pesca Ministerio de Ganadería, Agricultura y Pesca Alternates

Tabaré Bocalandro

Ministro

Representante Permanente Adjunto de

Uruguay ante la FAO

Representación Permanente de Uruguay

ante la FAO

Pamela Vivas Ministro Conseiero

Embajada de la Republica Oriental del

Uruguay en Brazil

Martín Buxedas

Director, Oficina de Programación

Agropecuaria (ODYPA)

Ministerio de Ganadería, Agricultura y

Pesca

Betty Mandl

Presidente del Comité Nacional del

Codex Alimentarius

Subdirectora General de Servicios

Agrícolas (DGSA)

Ministerio de Ganadería, Agricultura y

Pesca

Victoria Francolino

Primer Secretario Embajada de la Republica Oriental del

Uruguay en Brazil

Susana Rosa

Segundo Secretario

Embajada de la Republica Oriental del

Uruguay en Brazil

Patricia Pacheco

Segundo Secretario

Embajada de la Republica Oriental del

Uruguay en Brazil

VENEZUELA

Head of Delegation

Gerardo Rojas

Viceministro de Desarrollo Rural Integral Agroproductivos y Agroalimentarios

Ministerio del Poder Popular para la

Agricultura y Tierras

Alternates

Gladys Urbaneja

Representante Permanente de la

República Bolivariana de Venezuela ante

la FAO

Ministerio del Poder Popular para

Relaciones Exteriores

Angélica Ziems

Tercer Secretario / Encargada de Temas

Multilaterales Económicos

Ministerio del Poder Popular para

Relaciones Exteriores

Julio García Montoya

Embaiador

Embajada de Venezuela en Brasil

Dulce Parra

Ministra Consejera

Embajada de Venezuela en Brasil

Iris Ivonne Pérez

Segunda Secretaria

Embajada de Venezuela en Brasil

Nelson Gonzalez

Segundo Secretario

Embajada de Venezuela en Brasil

José Ramón Delgado

Funcionario

Embajada de Venezuela en Brasil

Wilfredo Machado

Funcionario

Embajada de Venezuela en Brasil

José Luis Machado

Funcionario

Embajada de Venezuela en Brasil

Manuel Claros

Asesor de la Oficina de Relaciones

Internacionales

Ministerio del Poder Popular para la

Agricultura y Tierras

Marilyn di Luca

Directora Ejecutiva

Instituto Nacional de Nutrición

Mattdign Medina Nutricionista Instituto Nacional de Nutrición

Keren Contreras Directora General de Calidad Despacho del Viceministro de Políticas Alimentarias Ministerio del Poder Popular para la Alimentación

Ariadna Gadrie Técnico Analista / Ministerio del Poder Popular para la Alimentación

OBSERVERS FROM MEMBER NATIONS NOT SERVICED BY THE REGIONAL OFFICE

HOLY SEE

Renato Volante Permanent Observer of the Holy See to FAO

FRANCE

Alice Monique Perrin-Janet Attaché Agricole Adjointe Ambassade de France au Brésil

SPAIN

Ricardo Peidró Conde Embajador de España en Brasil Embajada de España en Brasil

Jesús Salas Consejero de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación Embajada de España en Brasil Pedro Flores Urbano Coordinador General de la Cooperación Española en Brasil Embajada de España en Brasil

Rosario Boned Abad Directora de Programas Oficina Técnica de Cooperación Embajada de España en Brasil

Alejandro Muñoz Director de proyectos de la Cooperación Española en Brasil

SWEDEN

Anna Bernstad Embajada de Suecia en Brasil

REPRESENTATIVES OF UNITED NATIONS AND SPECIALIZED AGENCIES

UNITED NATIONS FORUM ON FORESTS (UNFF)

Barbara Tavora-Jainchill Programme Officer

WORLD BANK GROUP (BM)

Mark Lundell

Sector Leader for Brazil in the Sustainable Development Network

PAN-AMERICAN HEALTH ORGANIZATION / WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (PAHO/WHO)

Albino Belotto

Director of the PAHO/WHO Pan American Foot-and-Mouth Disease Center

Mauro Rosa Elkhoury Consultor

UNITED NATIONS ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (UNEP)

Cristina Montenegro Co-ordinator, Regional Office for Latin America in Brazil

WORLD FOOD PROGRAMME (WFP)

Gordana Jerger Deputy Regional Director Regional Bureau for Latin America and the Caribbean

OBSERVERS FROM INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

BIODIVERSITY INTERNATIONAL

Marleni Ramirez Regional Director (Americas)

SOUTHERN CONE PLANT PROTECTION COMMITTEE (COSAVE)

Carlos Arthur Franz

Coordinador de Fiscalización del Tránsito Vegetal (CFTV)

Departamento de Sanidad Vegetal de la Organización Nacional de Protección Fitosanitaria (ONPF)

ANDEAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (ADC)

Moira Paz Estenssoro Representante de la CAF en Brazil

Ana Ferri Ejecutiva

INTER-AMERICAN INSTITUTE FOR COOPERATION ON AGRICULTURE (IICA)

Chelston W.D. Brathwaite

Director General

Christopher Hansen Subdirector General

Mariano Olazábal

Director de Operaciones Regionales e Integración

James French

Director de Liderazgo Técnico y Gestión del Conocimiento

Gonzalo González

Director de Operaciones Regionales e Integración para la Región Sur y Representante del IICA en Chile

Carlos Basco

Representante del IICA en Brazil

WORLD ORGANISATION FOR ANIMAL HEALTH (OIE)

Luis Barcos

Representante Regional de la OIE para las Américas

AMAZON COOPERATION TREATY ORGANIZATION (ACTO)

Francisco Ruiz Marmolejo Secretario General a.i.

INTERNATIONAL TROPICAL TIMBER ORGANIZATION (ITTO)

Floriano Pastore

ITTO Regional Officer, Latin America and the Caribbean

WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION (WMO)

A.D. Moura

Director of INMET and WMO Third Vice-President

L. Fortes

Coordinator-General of INMET's Research and Development Division

A. Dall'Antonia Junior

Coordinator-General of INMET's Agrometeoroly Division

CENTRAL AMERICAN PARLIAMENT (PARLACEN)

Julio Gonzalez Gamarra Presidente

OBSERVERS FROM NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

ACTION AID INTERNATIONAL

Marta de Oliveira Antunes Global Coordinator of IFSN Action Aid International Food Rights Team

Luisa Margarita Salinas de Holm Regional Policy Coordinator – Americas

Maria Alejandra Scampini Franco Women's Rights Regional Coordinator

Adriano Campolina de Oliveira Soares International Director of Action Aid for Americas Region

Eduardo Vallecillo

Coordinador de la Red Nacional de Nicaragua GISSAN (Grupo de Interés por la Soberanía y la Seguridad Alimentaria y Nutricional) y Coordinador de la Red Centroamericana por la Soberanía y la Seguridad Alimentaria y Nutricional –REDCASSAN

Laura Hurtado Paz y Paz Project Coordinator from Action Aid in Guatemala

Renata Neder

Communications Assistant for Action Aid Food Rights Team

Idalia Códoba Jarquin Secretaria Ejecutiva

Grupo de Interés por la Soberanía y Seguridad Alimentaria y Nutricional (GISSAN)

Magda Elena Reyes

Representante del Tema de la Tierra

Red Nacional por la Defensa de la Seguridad y Soberanía Alimentaria de Guatemala (REDSAG)

Asociación de Desarrollo Integral La Fe (ADIF)

LATIN AMERICAN POULTRY ASSOCIATION (ALA)

Ariel Mendes Presidente

Pedro Mitma Vicepresidente Luiz Castroverde Vicepresidente

Antonio Echeverría Vicepresidente

Isidro Molfese Secretario Ejecutivo

Clovis Puperi Coordinador Comité de Congresos

Maia Burneister Secretaria

LATIN AMERICAN CENTER FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT (RIMISP)

Alain de Janvry Profesor University of California at Berkeley

Vanderley Ziger Diretor Presidente Central Cresol Baser

Juan Lucas Restrepo Director Federacion Nacional de Cafeteros de Colombia

Germán Escobar Director Ejecutivo e Investigador Principal

Julio Berdegué Investigador Principal

Eduardo Ramirez Investigador Principal

Claudia Ranaboldo Investigadora Principal

Manuel Chiriboga Investigador Principal

Miguel Pellerano Consultor

INTERNATIONAL NGO/CSO PLANNING COMMITTEE FOR FOOD SOVEREIGNTY (IPC)

Egidio Angel Strappasson MOCASE Diógenes Lucio Llanos

Confederacion Nacional de Organizaciones Campesinas Indigenas y Negras (FENOCIN)

Noe Antonio Ramírez

Sindicato de Trabajadores Bananeros de Izabal (SITRABI)

Magdalena Sarat

Coordinadora Nacional de Mujeres Viudas de Guatemala

CONAVIGUA

Jorge Fedrick

Organización de los Hijos de la Madre Tierra (YATAMA)

Movimiento Indigena de Nicaragua (MIN)

Celia Sillo Muni

Confederación Sindical de Colonizadores de Bolivia (CSCB)

Otto Polanco

Asociación de pescadores artesanales y de mediana escala de Colombia (ANPAC)

Ramón Agama

Federacion de Integracion y Unificacion de los Pescadores Artesanales de Peru (FIUPAP)

Lourdes Huanca Atencio

Federación Nacional de Mujeres Campesinas Artesanas Indigenas Nativas y Asalariadas del Perú (FEMUCARINAP)

Manuel Heriberto Yauri Humala

Juventud Organizada Rural Catolica Ecuatoriana (JORCE)

Ana Francisca Sanchez

UNAG-NICARAGUA

Javier Pasquier

Centro para la Investigación, la Promoción y el Desarrollo Rural y Social

CIPRES / MAS y MEJOR

Nivaldo Ramos

MIJARC

Francisca Rodríguez

ANAMURI

Alberto Broch

CONTAG

Carmen Ferreira

CONTAG

Humberto Mella

CONAPACH

Jorge Stanley

Organización Indígena KUNA

Mario Ahumada CIP Regional

Pedro Avendaño

WFF

Saul Vicente

Concejo Internacional de Tratados Indios (CITI)

Fernando López

Comisión Nacional de Fomento Rural (FIPA)

Paul Nicholson Via Campesina

Javier Souza RAPAL

Felipe Iñiguez

Movimiento Agroecológico de América latina y Caribe (MAELA)

Ivonne Ramos Accion Ecologica (RALLT) Egidio Brunetto Via Campesina Sudamerica (MST)

Jose Alberto De Lima Ferreiro Movimento Nacional dos Pescadores (MONAPE)

Margarida Pereira Da Silva MMTRNE

Paulo Mansan Pastoral de la Juventud Rural

Rita Zanotto Via Campesina

INTERNACIONAL FEDERATION OF ORGANIC AGRICULTURE MOVEMENTS (IFOAM)

Patricia Flores

IFOAM Latin America and the Caribbean Representative

Moisés Quispe Director Ejecutivo Asociación Nacional de Productores Ecológicos (ANPE)

Romeu Mattos Leite Associação de Agricultura Natural (ANC)

FIAN INTERNATIONAL

Sofía Monsalve Land Programme Coordinator

Enéias da Rosa Funcionario

GREENPEACE INTERNATIONAL

Gabriela Vuolo GE Campaigner, Greenpeace Brazil

ROTARY INTERNATIONAL

Luiz Coelho de Oliveira former Director of Rotary International 2008-09 Health and Hunger Committee Representative

FAO

Mohammed Saied NOORI-NAEENI Independent Chairman of the Council

Jacques DIOUF Director-General

Conference Secretariat:

José GRAZIANO DA SILVA Assistant Director-General Regional Representative for Latin America and the Caribbean

Margarita FLORES
Deputy Regional Representative for Latin
America and the Caribbean
FAO Representative in Chile

Deodoro ROCA Subregional Representative for Central America

Carlos M. CARNEIRO Conference Secretary

José TUBINO Conference Affairs Officer

Germán ROJAS Information Officer

Luis GOMEZ OLIVER Reports Officer

Mitzi FABREGAT Registration and Documents Officer Héctor VASQUEZ Information Technology Officer

Axelle MEYNART
Secretary of the Director-General and
Secretary of the Independent
Chairperson of the Council

Denise WOLFF
Secretary of the Regional Representative
for Latin America and the Caribbean and
Secretary of the Sub-Regional
Representatives

Carmen MENDES
Secretary of the Conference Secretary

Nancy AYUB Secretary of the Reports Officer

Officers:

Fernando SOTO Senior Agricultural Policy Officer

Tito DIAZ Senior Animal Production and Health Officer

Guilherme SCHUETZ

Consultant/Secretariat support staff:

Lucas TAVARES Isabela DUTRA Christina LIMA Agribusiness and Infrastructure Officer Franz MARTIN Information Management Officer

Maya PIÑEIRO Senior Officer Food Quality and Food Standards Service

APPENDIX F

LIST OF DOCUMENTS

<u>Number</u>	<u>Títle</u>
LARC/08/1 Rev 1	Provisional Annotated Agenda
LARC/08/2	Policies to promote and/or strengthen the participation and joint action of public and private actors in rural development
LARC/08/3	Transboundary Diseases
LARC/08/4	Opportunities and challenges of biofuel production for food security and the environment in Latin America and the Caribbean
LARC/08/5	Matters arising from the 34 th Session of the FAO Conference
LARC/08/6	Report on FAO activities (2006-2007) aimed at achieving the Millennium Development Goals and the World Food Summit target.
LARC/08/7	Round Table: Follow-up to the International Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development (ICARRD)
LARC/08/8	Pressing global and regional issues: Hunger-Free Latin America and the Caribbean Initiative
LARC/08/INF/1	Information Note
LARC/08/INF/2 Rev 1	Provisional Timetable
LARC/08/INF/3 Rev 1	Provisional List of Documents
LARC/08/INF/4	Statement of the Director-General
LARC/08/INF/5	Report of the XXIV Session of the Latin American and Caribbean Forestry Commission (LACFC)
LARC/08/INF/6	Report of the Commission on Livestock Development for Latin America and the Caribbean (CODEGALAC)
LARC/08/INF/7	Food safety: Effective participation of developing countries in Codex Alimentarius meetings

APPENDIX G

NEW STRUCTURE OF THE FAO REGIONAL OFFICE FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

